

## LUND UNIVERSITY

## Distribution and function of TRP ion channels in primary sensory neurons

Sturesson, Helena

2007

## Link to publication

*Citation for published version (APA):* Sturesson, H. (2007). *Distribution and function of TRP ion channels in primary sensory neurons*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Clinical Chemistry and Pharmacology]. Helena Axelsson.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Distribution and function of TRP ion channels in primary sensory neurons

E. Helena Axelsson



Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology Department of Laboratory Medicine Lund University Lund 2007 **Cover page:** Photos of a rat dorsal root ganglion (DRG) (*top*), a section of rat mesenteric artery with TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres in the adventitia (*bottom left*) and a section of rat hindpaw skin with TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres in the dermis/epidermis region (*bottom right*).

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2007:46 ISSN 1652-8220, ISBN 978-91-85559-24-4 © 2007 Helena Axelsson Printed at Media Tryck, Lund, Sweden From the Department of Laboratory Medicine Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology Lund University Hospital, Lund, Sweden

# Distribution and function of TRP ion channels in primary sensory neurons

E. Helena Axelsson

## AKADEMISK AVHANDLING

Som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i föreläsningssal 4, Centralblocket, Universitetssjukhuset i Lund fredagen den 2 mars, 2007, kl. 9.00 Fakultetsopponent: Professor Ernst Brodin Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm

| Organization<br>LUND UNIVERSITY  | Document name<br>DOCTORAL DISSERTATION  |   |  |  |  |
|--|---|---|--|--|--|
| Department of Laboratory Medicine<br>Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology  | Date of issue 2007-03-02  |   |  |  |  |
| Lund University Hospital<br>S-221 85 Lund, Sweden  | Sponsoring organization   |   |  |  |  |
| Author(s)  |   |   |  |  |  |
| Helena Axelsson  |   |   |  |  |  |
| Title and subtitle   |   |   |  |  |  |
| Distribution and function of TRP ion channels  | n primary sensory neurons   |   |  |  |  |
| Abstract<br>It is frequently argued that cannabinoids exert part of<br>activation of cannabinoid CB1 receptors on TRPV1-e<br>tissues. However, we find no evidence of CB1 recept<br>hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery. The CB1 recept<br>TRPV1-mediated neuronal CGRP release from rat hi<br>not support the general view that the analgesic effect<br>TRPV1-expressing PSN in the periphery. Garlic cont<br>allicin and diallyl disulfide (DADS), some of which r<br>Our results show that raw garlic extract, allicin and D<br>NF in the vascular system. These findings highlight T<br>provide unique pharmacological tools for investigatir<br>TRPA1 in the vascular system explains the beneficial<br>remains to be shown. This study also expands our un-<br>basis, which is of importance for development of nov<br>level. The skin is the body's largest sensory organ. Th<br>PSN in animals and are therefore likely to be express<br>chemistry was used to identify these channels and con-<br>markers of PSN in skin from healthy volunteers and f<br>NGFbeta that causes Norrbottnian congenital insensit<br>presence of TRPV2 and TRPM8 in PSN in the human<br>immunoreactive NF are present in unmyelinated NF i<br>around blood vessels and hair follicles. In contrast to<br>papillary dermis and seem to be restricted to peptider<br>neuropeptides CGRP or SP. There is a substantial los | their analgesic and anti-inflami<br>expressing primary sensory neur<br>or immunoreactivity on nerve fi<br>or agonists anandamide and HU<br>ndpaw skin and mesenteric arte<br>of CB1 receptor agonists is due<br>ains a number of organosulfur of<br>nay contribute to its pungent an<br>ADS activate TRPA1 ion chanu<br>(RPA1 as a novel drug target in<br>g the role of this ion channel. V<br>antihypertensive effect observed<br>derstanding of how TRPA1 is re<br>el drug therapies for pain, inflar<br>te TRP ion channels TRPV2 and<br>et in humans as well. Fluorescee<br>npare their distribution patterns<br>from individuals with a mutation<br>ivity to pain. This study shows<br>1 skin. TRPV2 and TRPM8 as v<br>n epidermis and papillary derm<br>TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 as<br>gic NF, of which the majority c<br>s of NF containing TRPV1, TR | natory effects via<br>ons (PSN) in peripheral<br>bres (NF) in rat or mouse<br>210 also fail to inhibit<br>ry. Therefore, this study do<br>to direct inhibition of<br>ompounds, including<br>d vasodilator properties.<br>hels on PNS in culture and<br>the vascular system and<br>Vhether activation of<br>ed by garlic treatment<br>sgulated at a molecular<br>nmation and vascular<br>d TRPM8 are expressed in<br>nce immunohisto-<br>with known neuronal<br>in the gene encoding<br>for the first time the<br>vell as TRPV1<br>is, in nerve bundles, and<br>re found mainly in the<br>ontains the sensory<br>PV2 and TRPM8 in skin |  |  |  |
| from individuals with Norrbottnian congenital insens<br>in human skin may open new avenues for treatment o   | itivity to pain. Insight into the ro<br>f neuropathic pain and inflamm  | atory skin diseases.  |  |  |  |
| Key words: allicin, calcitonin gene-related peptide, cannabinoids, capsaicin, congenital insensitivity to pain, garlic, immunohistochemistry, nociceptors, pain, skin, TRPA1, TRPM8, TRPV1, TRPV2  |   |   |  |  |  |
| Classification system and/or index termes (if any):  |   |   |  |  |  |
| Supplementary bibliographical information:   |   | Language  |  |  |  |
|  |   | English   |  |  |  |
| ISSN and key title:  |   | ISBN  |  |  |  |
| 1652-8220  |   | 978-91-85559-24-4   |  |  |  |
| Recipient's notes  | Number of pages<br>121  | Price   |  |  |  |
|  | Security classification   |   |  |  |  |

DOKUMENTDATABLAD enl SIS 61 41 21

Distribution by (name and address) I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Axelson Helena Signature\_

2007-01-30 Date



## TABLE OF CONTENTS

| LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS  | 9  |
|--|----|
| ABBREVIATIONS  | 10 |
| ABSTRACT   | 11 |
| INTRODUCTION   | 12 |
| The bodily senses  | 12 |
| Somatosensory system   | 13 |
| Primary sensory neurons  | 13 |
| Pain is an afferent function of primary sensory neurons  | 14 |
| Ascending pathways   | 15 |
| Descending pathways  | 15 |
| Efferent release of neurotransmitters from primary sensory neurons can result in sensitization |    |
| and inflammation   | 15 |
| The molecular mechanism underlying nociception   | 16 |
| The TRP ion channel family   | 17 |
| TRPV1  | 18 |
| Localization of TRPV1  | 18 |
| Activation of TRPV1  | 19 |
| Effects due to activation of TRPV1   | 19 |
| Drug-induced antinociception   | 20 |
| The endocannabinoid system - CB1 and CB2 receptors   | 21 |
| Localization of CB receptors   | 21 |
| The role of cannabinoids in antinociception  | 21 |
| Anandamide – an endogenous cannabinoid and/or vanilloid?                                       | 22 |
| Co-localization of TRPV1 and CB1 receptors   | 22 |
| TRPV2  | 23 |
| TRPM8  | 24 |
| TRPA1  | 25 |
| AIMS OF THE THESIS   | 26 |
| MATERIALS AND METHODS  | 27 |
| Animals and tissues  | 27 |
| Fluorescence immunohistochemistry (Paper I-III)  | 27 |
| Enzymatic immunohistochemistry (Paper I-II)  | 31 |
| Recording of tension (Paper I-II)  | 34 |
| Measurement of CGRP (Paper I)  | 35 |
| Competitive radioimmunoassay   | 36 |

| Protein assay   | 37 |  |
|---|----|--|
| <sup>3</sup> H-noradrenaline release (Paper I)                                      | 37 |  |
| Calcium imaging and voltage-clamp recordings (Paper II)                             | 38 |  |
| Calcium imaging   | 38 |  |
| Whole-cell patch-clamp  | 39 |  |
| Quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR) (Paper III)                                    | 39 |  |
| RNA isolation   | 39 |  |
| cDNA synthesis  | 40 |  |
| RT-PCR  | 40 |  |
| RESULTS AND DISCUSSION  | 41 |  |
| TRPV1 - a nociceptor modulated by the cannabinoid CB1 receptor? (Paper I)           | 41 |  |
| CB1 receptor immunoreactivity in hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery                 | 41 |  |
| CB1 receptor immunoreactivity in cerebellum   | 42 |  |
| Immunohistochemical localization of TRPV1 in rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery | 42 |  |
| Effects of HU210 and anandamide on TRPV1-mediated CGRP release in rat               |    |  |
| hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery  | 44 |  |
| TRPA1 - a nociceptor that recognizes pungent products from garlic (Paper II)        |    |  |
| Garlic activates primary sensory neurons  | 45 |  |
| Garlic activates the TRP ion channel TRPA1  | 46 |  |
| Garlic produces vasodilatation of rat mesenteric artery                             | 46 |  |
| TRPA1 immunoreactivity in primary sensory neurons                                   | 46 |  |
| Are TRPV2 and TRPM8 present on sensory nerve fibres in human skin? (Paper III)      | 48 |  |
| Skin innervation in healthy volunteers  | 48 |  |
| Skin innervation in Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain                   | 49 |  |
| GENERAL DISCUSSION  | 50 |  |
| Methodological aspects  | 50 |  |
| Cannabinoid CB1 receptors and primary afferents                                     | 51 |  |
| Role of TRPA1 in the somatosensory nervous system                                   | 52 |  |
| CONCLUSIONS   | 54 |  |
| SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING (SWEDISH SUMMARY)   | 55 |  |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS  | 57 |  |
| REFERENCES  | 61 |  |
| APPENDIX I-III  | 68 |  |

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to by their Roman numerals:

I. Helena E. Axelsson, Magnus Korsgren, Peter Ekström, Edward D. Högestätt, Peter M. Zygmunt. *Neuronal expression of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor and TRPV1 in rodent hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery.* (Submitted 2006)

**II.** Diana M. Bautista, Pouya Movahed, Andrew Hinman, Helena E. Axelsson, Olov Sterner, Edward D. Högestätt, David Julius, Sven-Eric Jordt, and Peter M. Zygmunt. *Pungent products from garlic activate the sensory ion channel TRPA1*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 102:12248-52, 2005.

**III.** Helena E. Axelsson, Jan K. Minde, Andreas Sonesson, Göran Toolanen, Edward D. Högestätt, Peter M. Zygmunt. *TRPM8, TRPV1 and TRPV2 immunoreactive nerve fibres in human skin and their disappearance in Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain.* (Manuscript)

Copyright holder of published work © 2005 by the National Academy of Sciences

## ABBREVIATIONS

| AITC            | Allyl isothiocyanate   |
|-----------------|--|
| CB1             | Cannabinoid receptor 1                                       |
| CB2             | Cannabinoid receptor 2                                       |
| CGRP            | Calcitonin gene-related peptide                              |
| CNS             | Central nervous system                                       |
| DAB             | Diaminobenzidine   |
| DADS            | Diallyl disulfide  |
| DNA             | Deoxyribonucleic acid  |
| DRG             | Dorsal root ganglia  |
| ED1             | Ectodermal dysplasia   |
| HEK             | Human Embryonic Kidney                                       |
| HRP             | Horseradish peroxidase                                       |
| 5-HT            | Serotonin  |
| IB4             | Isolectin-B4   |
| NF200           | Neurofilament 200 kD   |
| NGFβ            | Nerve growth factor beta                                     |
| PBS             | Phosphate buffer solution                                    |
| PCR             | Polymerase chain reaction                                    |
| PGP             | Protein gene product 9.5                                     |
| PNS             | Peripheral nervous system                                    |
| RIA             | Radioimmunoassay   |
| RNA             | Ribonucleic acid   |
| rpHβ            | Rat prolyl 4-hydroxylase                                     |
| SP              | Substance P  |
| TG              | Trigeminal ganglia   |
| TH              | Tyrosine hydroxylase   |
| $\Delta^9$ -THC | $\Delta^9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol                             |
| TRP             | Transient receptor potential                                 |
| TRPA1           | Transient receptor potential ankyrin 1                       |
| TRPC            | A subgroup of the TRP ion channel family called "Canonical"  |
| TRPM8           | Transient receptor potential melastatin 8                    |
| TRPML           | A subgroup of the TRP ion channel family called "Mucolipins" |
| TRPP            | A subgroup of the TRP ion channel family called "Polycystin" |
| TRPV1           | Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1                     |
| TRPV2           | Transient receptor potential vanilloid 2                     |
| VIP             | Vasoactive intestinal peptide                                |
|                 |  |

## ABSTRACT

It is frequently argued that cannabinoids exert part of their analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects via activation of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor located on TRPV1-expressing primary sensory nerve fibres in peripheral tissues. However, we find no evidence of CB1 receptor immunoreactivity on nerve fibres in rat or mouse hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery. The CB1 receptor agonists anandamide and HU210 also fail to inhibit TRPV1-mediated calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) release from primary sensory neurons in rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery. Therefore, this study do not support the general view that the analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects of CB1 receptor agonists are due to direct inhibition of TRPV1expressing primary sensory nerve terminals in the periphery. Garlic contains a number of organosulphur compounds, including allicin and diallyl disulfide (DADS), some of which may contribute to its pungent and vasodilator properties. Our results show that raw garlic extract, allicin and DADS activate TRPA1 ion channels on primary sensory neurons in culture and nerve fibres in the vascular system. These findings highlight TRPA1 as a novel ion channel in the vascular system and provide novel pharmacological tools for investigating the role of this ion channel. Whether activation of TRPA1 in the vascular system explains the beneficial antihypertensive effect observed by garlic treatment remains to be shown. This study also expands our understanding of how TRPA1 is regulated on a molecular basis, which is of importance for development of novel drug therapies for pain, inflammation and vascular disease. The skin is a major sensory organ that contains a large number of nerves. The TRP ion channels TRPV2 and TRPM8 are expressed in the somatosensory nervous system in animals and are therefore likely to be expressed in humans as well. Fluorescence immunohistochemistry was used to identify these channels and compare their expression and distribution patterns with known neuronal markers of the sensory nervous system in skin from healthy volunteers and from individuals with a mutation in the gene encoding nerve growth factor beta (NGFB) that causes Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain. This study shows for the first time the presence of TRPV2 and TRPM8 in sensory nerves in the human skin. TRPV2 and TRPM8 as well as TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres are present in unmyelinated nerve fibres in epidermis and papillary dermis, in nerve bundles, and around blood vessels and hair follicles. In contrast to TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 are found mainly in the papillary dermis and seem to be restricted to peptidergic nerve fibres, of which the majority contains the sensory neuropeptides CGRP or SP. There is a substantial loss of nerve fibres containing TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 in skin from individuals with Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain. Insight into the role of TRPV2 and TRPM8 in human skin may open new avenues for treatment of neuropathic pain and inflammatory skin diseases.

## INTRODUCTION

### The bodily senses

The human body receives sensory information from its internal and external environment with the help of the visual, auditory, vestibular, somatosensory, gustatory and olfactory systems. A sensation is yielded upon a physical stimulus that is transformed (stimulus transduction) into nerve impulses. Although the senses differ in their modes of reception (light, sound, gravity, pressure, displacement, chemical, thermal or mechanical) they all convey four basic types of information when stimulated and hence have a similar organization. Modality, e.g. temperature, sound or pressure, defines a general class of stimulus, determined by the type of energy transmitted by the stimulus and the receptors specialized to sense that energy. The type of receptor activated by a stimulus plays the primary role in coding the stimulus modality. In each sensory system the initial contact with environment occurs through specialized neuronal structures called sensory receptors. The sensory receptor is the first cell in each sensory pathway that transforms stimulus energy to electrical energy. Each nerve fibre is primarily activated by a certain type of stimulus. Each class of sensory receptors makes connections with distinctive structures in the central nervous system which represent the six sensory systems. Humans have four classes of receptors, each of which is primarily sensitive to one form of physical energy; mechanical, chemical, thermal and electromagnetic. The mechanoreceptors of the somatosensory system mediate the sense of touch, proprioceptive sensations, and the sense of joint position, whereas the mechanoreceptors of the inner ear mediate hearing and the sense of balance. Chemoreceptors are involved in the senses of pain, itch, taste and smell. Thermoreceptors in the skin sense the body temperature and also the temperature of the ambient air and the objects that we touch. Humans possess only one type of receptor for electromagnetic energy; the photoreceptors in the retina. Each of the major modalities has several submodalities, e.g. taste can be sweet, sour, bitter or salty, because each sensory receptor class contains a variety of specialized receptors that respond to a limited range of stimulus energy. The *location* of the stimulus is represented by the set of sensory receptors within the sensory system that are active. The precision with which one stimulus can be located and differentiated from an adjacent one depends on the amount of convergence of neuronal input in the specific ascending pathway; the greater the convergence, the less the precision. Other factors affecting the precision are the size of the receptive field covered by a single neuron and the amount of overlap of nearby receptive fields.

The *intensity* of the stimulus is signalled by the response amplitude of each receptor, which reflects the total amount of stimulus energy delivered to the receptor. The electrical signal produced by the receptor is called the receptor potential and its amplitude and duration are related to the intensity and time course of stimulation. Hence, the intensity or amount of a sensation depends on the strength of the stimulus. The *timing* of stimulation is defined by when the response in the receptor starts and stops and is determined by how quickly the energy is received or lost by the receptor. The intensity and timing determines the firing pattern of an active sensory neuron. Taken together, all sensory systems respond to four elementary features of stimuli; modality, location, intensity and duration<sup>1</sup>. In this thesis, I have focused on the somatosensory system which will be further discussed.

#### Somatosensory system

Compared to the other sensory systems, the somatosensory system is much more complex and is least understood. The somatosensory system has four modalities; discriminative touch, proprioception, nociception and temperature sense. Discriminative touch and limb proprioception depend on encapsulated mechanoreceptors sensitive to physical deformation of the skin, stretch, or contraction of muscles, or the angle of individual joints. The sense of temperature is mediated by the bare endings of thinly myelinated or unmyelinated nerves sensitive to specific ranges of thermal energy. Separate classes of thermal receptors sense temperatures that are perceived as cold, cool, warm or hot. Painful sensations are mediated by free nerve endings, called nociceptors, which sense destructive mechanical stimuli, extreme temperatures and chemical substances released from cells as a result of tissue damage. The four modalities are conveyed in separate ascending pathways to the brain, at least in the early stages of information processing<sup>1</sup>.

#### Primary sensory neurons

Primary sensory neurons are the sensory receptors of the somatosensory system. The cell bodies of these nerves are collected in sensory ganglia, such as the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) located along the spinal cord, and the nodose and trigeminal ganglia (TG) located in the neck and head region. The primary sensory neuron has as single process close to the cell body that divides into two branches forming a T-shape, with one branch extending to the periphery and the other to the spinal cord. This construction of a nerve is called pseudounipolar and is specific for the sensory neurons<sup>2</sup> (Fig. 1).

The primary afferent neuron have two functions; one is to convey sensory information from the periphery to the central nervous system (afferent function), and one is to release neurotransmitters from their peripheral ends (efferent function). These aspects will be further considered below.



Fig. 1. (a) The dorsal horn with the dorsal root containing accumulations of sensory neurons. (b) The cell body, *soma*, of a primary sensory neuron, has two axons leaving to the peripheral and central parts of the body.

#### Pain is an afferent function of primary sensory neurons

The sensation of pain is a result of the activation of any of the three major classes of nociceptors called thermal, mechanical and polymodal nociceptors. The term nociceptor comes from the Latin word noci, meaning hurt<sup>3</sup> and was introduced by Sherrington<sup>4</sup>, who defined nociceptors as those primary afferent neurones that can be activated by harmful or potentially harmful stimuli and then give rise to the sensation of pain<sup>1,5</sup>. Three classes of nociceptors can be distinguished on the basis of the type of stimulus upon which they are activated. Thermal nociceptors are thinly myelinated Aδ-fibres with a conduction velocity of ~ 20 m/s and are excited by extreme temperatures,  $\ge 45$  °C or  $\le 5$  °C, as well as by strong mechanical stimuli. Mechanical nociceptors require strong tactile stimuli applied to the skin, which mediates sensations of sharp or pricking pain, and like the thermal nociceptors, their signals are conducted by thinly myelinated A $\delta$ -fibres<sup>1,6,7</sup>. The last of the three nociceptors: the polymodals comprise the largest type and respond to a variety of destructive mechanical, thermal (both hot and cold) and chemical stimuli. These receptors are insensitive to gentle mechanical stimuli. Stimulation of these receptors in humans evokes sensations of slow, burning pain. Their signals are conducted by non-myelinated C-fibres of small diameter; the lack of myelin sheet reduces the conduction velocity to  $\sim 2$  m/s.

All three classes of nociceptors are widely distributed in the skin and deep tissues where they often work together. They all have one common feature, they <u>only</u> respond to noxious stimuli<sup>1,6-8</sup>.

## Ascending pathways

Nociceptive afferent fibres of A $\delta$  and C type terminate in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. They are found particularly in the superficial dorsal horn, in the marginal layer (lamina I) and the substantia gelatinosa (lamina II), and to a minor extent, in the six other layers (lamina III-VIII). The major excitatory neurotransmitters, released by the central nerve endings of A $\delta$  and C fibres, are the amino acid glutamate and neuropeptides. The release of glutamate gives fast synaptic potentials in dorsal horn neurons by acting on the AMPA ( $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-isoxazole) type glutamate receptor, while neuropeptides elicit slow excitatory postsynaptic potentials<sup>1,9,10</sup>. These two types of neurotransmitters are released together from central terminals in spite of their distinct physiological actions on postsynaptic neurons<sup>1</sup>. The signals carrying information about noxious stimuli from the central neurons in the spinal cord are further sent to the brain through one of the five major ascending pathways (the spinothalamic, spinoreticular, spinomesencephalic, cervicothalamic and spinohypothalamic tracts). In the target area of the brain the nociceptive information is "translated" into an unpleasant warning signal<sup>1</sup>.

## Descending pathways

Except for the five ascending pathways there are also descending pathways with the purpose to inhibit neurotransmission and sensation of pain. In the spinal cord these descending pathways inhibit nociceptive neurons through direct connections or through inhibitory interneurons releasing enkephalins, endorphins and dynorphins, all of which are neuropeptides of the endogenous opioid system<sup>1,11</sup>.

# Efferent release of neurotransmitters from primary sensory neurons can result in sensitization and inflammation

Activation of the nociceptors by the different inflammatory mediators leads to a local release of substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP). They are synthesized in the cellbodies of such neurons and transported to the peripheral terminals, where they are stored and released upon depolarization of the terminals. Both substance P and CGRP act on mast cells in the vicinity of the injury and evoke degranulation with a following release of histamine, which in turn directly acts on the nociceptors. The release of substance P and CGRP also causes vasodilation<sup>1,12,13</sup>. These events are followed by a local inflammation of the tissue. The three signs of inflammation are heat, redness and swelling. The two first symptoms are results of the dilation of peripheral blood vessels, whereas the last one is a result of plasma extravasation, a process where proteins and cells leak out of postcapillary venules<sup>1,14</sup>. The purpose of the complex cascade of chemical signalling that arises after tissue injury is not only to protect the injured area but also to promote healing and guard against infection<sup>3</sup>.

Upon tissue injury and inflammation there are many inflammatory mediators that together enhance the sensation of pain. The phenomenon hyperalgesia is defined as an increased responsiveness to noxious stimulation in an area of damaged tissues. This is due to sensitization of nociceptors in the area of or nearby the damaged tissue<sup>3,15</sup>. The sensitization of nociceptors results from the release of a variety of chemicals by the damaged cells and tissues<sup>1,15</sup>. Some of the inflammatory mediators involved are bradykinin, serotonin (5-HT), histamine, potassium ions, acids, leukotrienes, prostaglandins, substance P and acetylcholine<sup>15</sup>. These pain-producing substances originate from different cells, but they all decrease the threshold for nociceptive activation. For examples bradykinin, can influence the activation in two ways, either by direct activation of the nociceptors or indirectly by stimulating the enzyme phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>, giving rise to nociceptive prostaglandins, which in turn can activate the nociceptors directly. 5-HT and histamine have like bradykinin a direct activating effect on the nociceptors<sup>1</sup>.

#### The molecular mechanism underlying nociception

The mechanism by which noxious stimuli depolarize free sensory nerve endings (nociceptors) and generate action potentials is only partly understood. The membrane of peripheral nociceptive neurons contains proteins such as ion channels that convert the thermal, mechanical or chemical energy of noxious stimuli into a depolarizing electric potential<sup>1,16,17</sup>. One group of ion channels that have received much attention in this regard is the transient receptor potential (TRP) ion channel family.

#### The TRP ion channel family

The transient receptor potential (TRP) ion channel family is composed of six mammalian members; TRPC, TRPV, TRPM, and TRPA, and the distantly related TRPP and TRPML<sup>18-20</sup>. It is a heterogeneous family of ion channels in the sense of activating stimuli, function and location within the body. However, they share some common features. All mammalian TRP channels are predicted to contain six transmembrane polypeptide sub-units that assemble as homo or hetero-tetramers to form nonselective cation-permeable channels. The pore of the channel is formed by the fifth and sixth transmembrane sub-units of the tetramer<sup>21,22</sup>. Functional properties common to many TRPs are their capacity to function as cellular sensors<sup>19</sup>. Most cells do express a number of different TRP ion channels and splice variants<sup>19</sup>.

The discovery of a transient receptor potential (TRP) in response to light instead of a sustained response in a Drosophila mutant photoreceptor cell, made the foundation to explore a new family of ion channels<sup>23,24</sup>. The first mammalian TRP channel to be discovered was TRPC1<sup>25</sup> (canonical TRP). Of the mammalian TRP channels, members of the TRPC subfamily are the most closely related to Drosophila TRP. All seven members of the TRPC family share an invariant sequence in the C-terminal tail, called a TRP box, as well as 3-4 Nterminal ankyrin repeats<sup>19,22</sup>. In general, the TRPC channels are broadly expressed and are found as heteromultimers<sup>21</sup>. The TRPV family comprises six members of which TRPV1-V4 act as thermosensors<sup>26-29</sup>. TRPV5 and TRPV6 are highly expressed in the kidney and intestine, respectively, were they are essential for calcium ion reabsorbation<sup>30,31</sup>. All members of this family contain 3-5 N-terminal ankyrin repeats. TRPV1, the founding member of this group, was cloned a decade ago and have since then been extensively studied<sup>26</sup>. TRPM (melastatin) was initially identified as a transcript in metastatic melanoma cells<sup>32</sup> and contain eight members, none of which contains ankyrin repeats. One of the members, TRPM8 is overexpressed in organ-confined prostate cancer and therefore may have a role in the development from an organ-confined state to a metastatic state. This makes TRPM8 to a potential diagnostic tissue marker and prognostic indicator for the progress of prostate cancer<sup>33</sup>. The most recent member to take part in the TRP ion channel family is TRPA1 (ankyrin). It is distinguished by its 14 amino terminal ankyrin repeats and has been suggested as a target for noxious cold<sup>34</sup> and natural irritants<sup>35</sup> and to function as a mechanosensitive channel in the hair cells of the inner  $ear^{36}$ .

TRPP (polycystin) is comprised of five polycystic kidney disease 1 proteins; PKD1 (TRPP1), PKDREJ, PKD1L1, PKD1L2 and PKD1L3 and three polycystic kidney disease 2 proteins;

PKD2 (TRPP2), PKD2L1 (TRPP3) and PKD2L2 (TRPP5)<sup>37</sup>. TRPP1 and TRPP2 form complexes and then function as a non-selective calcium ion-permeable channel<sup>38</sup>. Mutations in these proteins cause the autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease<sup>39-41</sup>. TRPML (mucolipin) is comprised of the mucolipins, MCOLN1 (TRPML1), MCOLN2 (TRPML2) and MCOLN3 (TRPML3), which are probably restricted to intracellular vesicles. Mutations in TRPML1 are associated with mucolipidosis type IV, a neurodegenerative lysosomal storage disorder<sup>42</sup>. TRPML3 is present in the cytoplasm of hair cells and the plasma membrane of stereocilia and a deletion of this ion channel in mouse results in deafness<sup>43</sup>. Several members of the TRP ion channel family have been shown to take part in the sensory systems, including the visual (Drosophila TRPs), olfactory (TRPC2), gustatory (TRPM5), auditory (TRPML3) and the somatosensory (TRPV1-V4, TRPM8 and TRPA1) systems<sup>44</sup>. In this thesis, four of these TRP ion channels have been studied and will be described in more detail below.

## TRPV1

A decade ago, the first member of the TRPV family, TRPV1 (formerly called capsaicin or vanilloid receptor), was cloned by Caterina et al. (1997)<sup>26</sup>. TRPV1 responds to several stimuli and among them are noxious heat, low extracellular pH and chemical stimuli such as capsaicin, the active ingredient in hot peppers, and other related vanilloids<sup>5</sup>. TRPV1 is found mainly in primary nociceptive neurons and mediates the pain-producing actions of capsaicin, heat and protons, classifying TRPV1 as a polymodal nociceptor<sup>1,14</sup>.

### Localization of TRPV1

As mentioned above, TRPV1 is localized mainly on membranes of primary nociceptive neurons. It is through different studies including autoradiography and binding studies with resiniferatoxin that it has been possible to partly determine the anatomical localization and tissue specificity of TRPV1<sup>5,45-47</sup>. The first studies showed that TRPV1 are expressed along the entire length of primary nociceptive neurons, from the peripheral terminals to the central endings in the dorsal horn. Of the primary sensory neurons it is primarily the small diameter C-fibres and the thinly myelinated Aδ-fibres that express TRPV1<sup>5,16</sup>. Later it was shown that also vagal (nodose ganglion) neurons and certain brain areas, not associated with primary sensory neurons, express TRPV1<sup>48,49</sup>. Furthermore, capsaicin has always been regarded as "a remarkably selective tool for primary sensory neurons", but it is now clear that not all actions of capsaicin can be referred to these neurons as TRPV1 seems to be localized in brain and non-neural tissues<sup>50,51</sup>.

#### Activation of TRPV1

Among the many stimuli that activate TRPV1 on primary sensory neurons, low extracellular pH and noxious heat have been proposed as physiological activators of TRPV1<sup>15,49,52</sup>. Low extracellular pH or local tissue acidosis frequently occurs during inflammation and ischaemic conditions and is often also accompanied by pain. Normally a reduction in pH leads to a decrease in the capacity of the neurons to fire, but this is not the case for nociceptive neurons. Instead, they usually show ongoing spike activity when they are exposed to an acidic environment<sup>16</sup>.

Chemical irritants are also activators of TRPV1. Capsaicin, the main ingredient in hot chilli peppers<sup>53</sup>, played a key role in the cloning of TRPV1 and was first isolated in 1846<sup>54</sup>. The time passed to 1919 before the exact chemical structure of capsaicin was determined<sup>55</sup> and another decade had to pass before capsaicin for the first time was synthesized. Capsaicin has been used for a long time around the world for three main reasons: as a spice for enhancing the taste of food, to protect people against invaders by temporarily blinding them (pepper spray) and for treatment of pain (analgesic purposes)<sup>50</sup>. Other newly discovered vanilloids include the ultrapotent capsaicin analogue resiniferatoxin, which was first isolated from the cactus-like plant *Euphorbia resinifera*, the fungal terpenoid, isovelleral and scutigeral<sup>52,56</sup>.

## Effects due to activation of TRPV1

The activation of TRPV1 on primary nociceptive neurons by either extracellular pH, noxious heat or chemical stimuli leads to an increased intracellular concentration of, mainly calcium and sodium ions <sup>50</sup> (Fig. 2). The TRPV1 is designated as a non-selective cation channel with a slight selectivity for calcium ions<sup>26,49</sup>. The increased concentrations of calcium ions in primary nociceptive nerve endings result in the release of neurotransmitters, mostly CGRP and substance P, which in turn give rise to the various local effects, mentioned above<sup>50</sup>.

Activation of TRPV1 can cause pain as well as analgesia, the latter possibly as a result of desensitization of the primary sensory neuron. Thus, both agonists and antagonists of TRPV1 may be useful as therapeutic agents for treatment pain and inflammation<sup>50,57-59</sup>.



Fig. 2. TRPV1 has multiple activation alternatives, such as protons  $(H^+)$ , heat and capsaicin. Activation leads to an increased intracellular concentration of ions, mainly calcium ions.

## Drug-induced antinociception

The main purpose of the body's capacity to feel pain is to protect it from injury. If this helping system for some reason does not work, an innocent injury that normally should have been taken care of could lead to a life-threatening tissue damage. Alternatively the injury could lead to chronic pain. There are mainly two groups of drugs involved in the alleviation of pain. Aspirin-like drugs that block prostaglandin production by inhibiting cyclooxygenases and narcotic analgesics, for instance morphine that activates opioid receptors. These drugs give rise to a number of serious side effects<sup>5</sup>. None of the currently available drugs are known to block nociceptor-specific receptors or enzymes. Putative receptors of thermal, mechanical and chemical stimuli on nociceptors are promising targets for a new group of analgesics, possibly with fewer side effects. One mechanism by which an analgesic and anti-inflammatory drug could work is through inhibition of TRPV1 either directly by binding to TRPV1 as an antagonist, or indirectly by activating an inhibitory receptor signalling pathway on TRPV1 containing nerves. This latter mechanism is believed to contribute to the analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects of CB1 receptor agonists<sup>60-63</sup>. Hence, the cannabinoid system is of great interest in pain research<sup>5</sup>.

#### The endocannabinoid system - CB1 and CB2 receptors

Cannabis is one of the oldest plant-derived recreational and therapeutic drugs used in human history. Extracts from the cannabis plant, *Cannabis sativa*, contain several related compounds named cannabinoids, most of which are extremely lipophilic. It was first in 1967 that the structure of  $\Delta^9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol ( $\Delta^9$ -THC) was determined<sup>64</sup>. Two cannabinoid receptors, CB1 and CB2 have so far been identified and cloned<sup>65</sup> (CB1 in 1990 and CB2 in 1993). Both receptors belong to the family of G-protein-coupled receptors, linked to inhibition of adenylate cyclase. They are also coupled to potassium channel activation and calcium channel inhibition, and thereby exert an inhibitory effect on the release of neurotransmitters, for instance CGRP and substanse P. These cellular effects resemble those of opioids on primary sensory neurons<sup>65</sup>.

### Localization of CB receptors

CB1 receptors are found in particularly high concentrations within the central nervous system (CNS) and to less extent in the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and in certain non-neuronal tissues. CB2 receptors occur mainly in immune cells where they mediate immunosuppressant effects. The identification of these cannabinoid receptors was followed by the discovery of endogenous cannabinoids, such as anandamide, which has been shown to function as both a neuromodulator and neurotransmitter<sup>65,66</sup>.

#### The role of cannabinoids in antinociception

Much research on the antinociceptive properties of cannabinoids has been performed with the four main classes of cannabinoid receptor agonists. These are the "classical" cannabinoid  $\Delta^9$ -THC, the "nonclassical" cannabinoid CP55940, the aminoalkylindole WIN55212 and the "eicosanoid" cannabinoid anandamide. Antinociceptive activity of cannabinoid receptor agonists has been tested in a wide range of animal pain models and there is no doubt that cannabinoids induce antinociception, at least in part through the activation of CB1 receptors<sup>65</sup>. It is mainly the CB1 receptors in the central nervous system (CNS) that seems to be important in antinociception, but it can not be excluded that a part of this effect is due to activation of peripheral CB1 receptors, although they are not as numerous as central CB1 receptors. In the periphery, CB1 receptors are localized in discrete regions, such as nerve terminals that form only a small part of the total tissue mass. Several studies have shown that CB1 receptors are found in a number of different regions within the peripheral nervous system. Among them are the dorsal roots, the dorsal root ganglia and the peripheral terminals of primary sensory

neurons<sup>65</sup>. Cannabinoid receptors and their endogenous ligands together constitute the endocannabinoid system, such as vanilloid receptors and their ligands constitute the vanilloid system (see below).

## Anandamide - an endogenous cannabinoid and/or vanilloid?

When screening for endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligands in pig brain, Devane et al. (1992)<sup>67</sup> discovered anandamide – the first member of a group called endocannabinoids. Anandamide can cause inhibitory effects on sensory nerves by acting as an agonist at the CB1 receptor, which in turns activates adenylate cyclase and inhibits voltage-activated calcium channels. It is produced on demand from phospholipid precursors in various organs and cell types, including neurons, macrophages and endothelial cells. Inactivation of anandamide is brought about by cellular reuptake and enzymatic hydrolysis by fatty acid amidohydrolase (FAAH)<sup>66</sup>. Yet, there is no final proof of anandamide as a physiological important compound acting at cannabinoid receptors. In 1999, Zygmunt et al. discovered that anandamide acts on vanilloid receptors (TRPV1)<sup>68-70</sup>. In their study anandamide could activate TRPV1 on primary sensory neurons in arteries and in cell systems expressing the cloned TRPV1. Since this discovery, there has been a heated debate whether anandamide should be regarded as an endogenous ligand of the cannabinoid or the vanilloid receptor system<sup>68-70</sup>.

## Co-localization of TRPV1 and CB1 receptors

Both TRPV1 and CB1 receptors are localised on primary sensory neurons, but whether they are localized on the same neurons is controversial. TRPV1 is postulated to occur most commonly on small and medium size DRG neurons<sup>26,48,71</sup>, while CB1 receptors are supposed to be present in large neurons<sup>72</sup>. Co-expression studies have shown conflicting results. For instance, one study showed that TRPV1 and CB1 receptors are co-expressed to a very high degree, while another study showed the opposite<sup>72,73</sup>.

In favor of the presence of CB1 receptors at the peripheral terminals of primary sensory neurons is the observation that anandamide inhibits capsaicin-induced CGRP release in rat hindpaw skin<sup>61</sup>. However, whether more selective CB1 receptor agonists could mimic the effect of anandamide was not examined in this study. Furthermore, there is no immunohistochemical evidence that CB1 receptors are present on such nerves in the periphery.

## TRPV2

The transient receptor potential vanilloid 2 (TRPV2) was discovered in 1999 by Caterina et al<sup>27,74-81</sup>. Although it is structurally related to TRPV1 (50 % sequence homology), it is not a target for capsaicin, protons or heat (43 °C), but is instead activated by noxious heat with a threshold temperature of 52 °C16. Currents mediated by TRPV2 show that it has the general properties of a non-selective cation channel. Numerous studies have shown that TRPV2 are found in rat and mouse sensory ganglia<sup>27,74-81</sup> and in the mammalian retina<sup>82</sup>. Within dorsal root and trigeminal ganglia, TRPV2 are expressed by medium to large neurons<sup>27,74,83,84</sup>. Studies have shown that TRPV2 is co-localized with CGRP<sup>27,74,85</sup> and NF200<sup>27,83,86</sup>, and to a lesser degree with substance P (SP) and isolectin-B4 (IB4)<sup>27</sup>, but not with TRPV1<sup>27,77,83</sup>. However, a few studies have reported a minor co-localization of TRPV2 and TRPV1 in sensory neurons<sup>76,78</sup>. TRPV2 is not restricted to peripheral sensory neurons but are also expressed in various other tissues including autonomic ganglia, larynx, lung, spleen, intestine, spinal cord and brain<sup>27,83,86-92</sup>. In these tissues TRPV2 may be activated by stimuli other than noxious heat, since 52 °C is not a physiologically relevant temperature inside the body. Furthermore, the wide distribution of TRPV2 indicates that this ion channel may have other functions than to detect noxious heat. TRPV2 may function as a stretch sensor in vascular smooth muscles<sup>93</sup> and may have a role in sympathetically-mediated neuropathic pain and inflammatory hyperalgesia to noxious high temperature stimuli<sup>94,95</sup>. Co-localization of TRPV2 and calbindin D-28K, a protein associated with muscle spindles, may also indicate other functions than heat nociception. Understanding the distribution and function of TRPV2 in humans may result in novel drug therapies for treatment of pain, inflammation and disorders due to sensory nerve hyper reactivity.

## TRPM8

In search for new prostate-specific tumor markers, a gene was discovered, termed trp-p8 (later called TRPM8), which resembles those for TRP ion channels<sup>96</sup>. mRNA transcripts of trp-p8 was detected in normal human prostate and testis, and in several cancer cell lines, but was not detected in tissues such as skeletal muscle, gastrointestinal tract, bladder, heart, lung, kidney or brain<sup>96</sup>. One year later, TRPM8 was cloned from mouse dorsal root ganglia<sup>97</sup> and rat trigeminal ganglia<sup>98</sup>, and by the use of *in situ* hybridization TRPM8 was localized to small diameter neurons<sup>97,98</sup>. This is supported by studies showing TRPM8 in small DRG neurons of guinea pig and in TG neurons of rat<sup>99,100</sup>. Further analysis have demonstrated that TRPM8 is localized to neurons also expressing tyrosine kinase A (TrkA), but not NF200, TRPV1, CGRP or IB4, which indicates that TRPM8 is found on small nociceptive neurons distinct from the well defined heat nociceptor expressing TRPV1, CGRP and IB497,101. However, other studies have reported co-localization of TRPM8 and TRPV1 on sensory neurons or a population of neurons sensitive for both menthol, cold and capsaicin<sup>98,100,102-104</sup>. These differences in expression between TRPM8 and TRPV1 could be explained by up-regulation of TRPV1 by the influence of NGF under culture conditions<sup>34</sup>. Furthermore, TRPM8 has also been detected on nerve fibres in rat tongue papillae<sup>100</sup> and in the urothelium and in nerves fibres of human urinary bladder<sup>105</sup>. TRPM8 is able to detect cold temperatures, with a threshold temperature of 23 °C, and is activated by the cooling compounds menthol, icillin and eucalyptol<sup>97,98,106</sup>. Since this discovery of TRPM8, many have tried to disclose the mechanisms behind cold sensation in mammals, where menthol has been used as a tool for identification of coldsensing neurons. Two main subpopulations have been detected, one menthol-sensitive and one menthol-insensitive, but further studies have shown that the pattern of cold-sensitive neurons in sensory ganglia is more complex and likely involves additional subgroups<sup>103,107-110</sup>. Recent studies indicate that TRPM8 can be a target for treating pain associated with tooth ache, overactive and painful urinary bladders as well as states of chronic pain<sup>105,111,112</sup>.

### TRPA1

TRPA1 (initially called p120 and ANKTM1) was first described when isolated from human cultured fibroblasts that had undergone oncogenic transformation, in a screen for down-regulated genes<sup>113</sup>. The topology of this novel TRP ion channel resembles that of other TRP ion channels, having six transmembrane units, but TRPA1 contains far more ankyrin repeats in the N-terminal region (14 altogether). Patch-clamp recordings indicate that TRPA1 is a non-selective cation channel, similar to many previously described TRP channels<sup>34,35</sup>. Story et al., (2003) showed that TRPA1 is activated by noxious cold with a temperature threshold of 17.5 °C. Importantly, Jordt et al., (2004) identified TRPA1 as a sensor of chemical irritants in the somatosensory nervous system. TRPA1 is not only a target for natural irritants such as isothiocyanates, found in mustard oil and wasabi, and cinnamaldehyde but also by phospholipase C activation with e.g., bradykinin<sup>35,114</sup>, an endogenous potent algogenic substance released at tissue injury and inflammation<sup>115</sup>. Furthermore, TRPA1 has also been suggested as a mechanosensitive channel in hearing, where the 14 N-terminal ankyrin repeats may form the gating spring of the hair cells<sup>36,116</sup>. However, the role of TRPA1 as a detector of noxious cold and as a mechanosensor is a matter of debate<sup>35,116</sup>.

TRPA1 are expressed by sensory ganglia of mouse and rat as shown by *in situ* hybridization and immunohistochemistry<sup>34,35,116</sup>. TRPA1 is found exclusively in TRPV1 expressing neurons and many also contain the sensory neuropeptides CGRP or substance P<sup>34,35</sup>, but are not found in NF200 or TRPM8 expressing neurons<sup>34</sup>. In addition to sensory ganglia, TRPA1 is found on nerve fibres in mouse urinary bladder and cornea<sup>116</sup>. Several studies have failed to detect mRNA transcripts of TRPA1 in tissues such as, heart, lung, skeletal muscle, kidney, liver and brain, indicating that this TRP ion channel is not as widely distributed as TRPV2 and TRPV1, making it an even more specific drug target than TRPV1 for treatment of pain, inflammation and disorders due to sensory nerve hyperreactivity.

## AIMS OF THE THESIS

**I.** To challenge the general view that cannabinoids exert their analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects via the cannabinoid CB1 receptor located to TRPV1 expressing primary afferent nerves in peripheral tissues. No immunohistochemical evidence has been published in support of this. Therefore, immunohistochemistry in combination with functional experiments were performed to study the role of the CB1 receptor in sensory neurotransmission in the rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery. These tissues are frequently used to study pain and inflammation including sensory nerve-dependent vascular responses.

**II.** To understand the molecular basis of garlic's somatosensory actions, which contribute to its pungent and vasodilator properties. Using various imaging techniques, the pharmacology of garlic extract and its derivatives allicin and DADS were characterized in cultured rat trigeminal sensory neurons, rat mesenteric arteries and cells heterologously expressing TRPA1. The imunohistochemical localization of TRPA1 in rodent sensory ganglia and blood vessels was also examined.

**III.** To investigate the possibility that the TRP ion channels TRPV2 and TRPM8, which are expressed in the somatosensory nervous system in animals, exist in human skin. Fluorescence immunohistochemistry was used to identify these channels and compare their expression and distribution patterns with known neuronal markers of the sensory nervous system in forearm skin from healthy volunteers and from individuals with a mutation in the gene encoding nerve growth factor beta (NGF $\beta$ ) that causes Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals and tissues

The cerebellum (Fig. 3), hindpaw skin (Fig. 3) and mesenteric arteries (Fig. 3) were collected from female Wistar-Hannover rats (200-250 g; Scanbur BK, Sollentuna, Sweden) or female CB1<sup>-/-</sup> and CB1<sup>+/+</sup> mice<sup>117</sup> (Paper I). Dorsal root ganglia (Fig. 3) and mesenteric arteries were collected from female Wistar-Hannover rats (200-250 g; Scanbur BK, Sollentuna, Sweden), and trigeminal ganglia were dissected from newborn Sprague Dawley rats or from TRPV1<sup>-/-</sup> and TRPV1<sup>+/+</sup> mice. Cultured HEK293t cells and oocytes were used for calcium imaging and patch-clamp recordings (Paper II). Punch biopsies (3 mm in diameter) were collected under local anaesthesia from the lateral upper arm 10 cm below the lateral margin of the acromion of three healthy volunteers and of two homozygous and three heterozygous individuals, carrying the NGFβ gene mutation for Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain (Paper III).

#### Fluorescence immunohistochemistry (Paper I-III)

Immunohistochemistry is a technique that makes it possible to visualize proteins in cells or tissues by using antibodies against a target protein (Fig. 4). Indirect fluorescence immunohistochemistry involves a primary antibody raised against a specific antigen and a secondary antibody coupled with a fluorochrome, that together form an antigen-antibody complex. When a cell or tissue containing such complexes is radiated with UV-light, the target protein can be detected by a fluorescence microscope as a coloured product. In this thesis, immunohistochemistry has been used as a tool to localize the cannabinoid CB1 receptor and TRP ion channels in various tissues.

The dorsal root ganglia, hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery from rat were fixed in a PBS solution containing paraformaldehyde (4 %) at 4 °C for 1 hour, 4 hours and 30 min, respectively. Biopsies from human skin were fixed in a Steffanini solution containing paraformaldehyde (2 %) and picric acid (0.2 %) in phosphate buffer solution (PBS), pH 7.2 at 4 °C for 24 hours. For cryoprotecting the tissues they were rinsed in a PBS solution containing sucrose (15 %) for two days with exchange to fresh solution twice a day. Fixed and cryoprotected tissues were mounted on cork plates with O.C.T. compound, frozen in iso-Pentane and stored at -70 °C. The frozen tissues were cut into sections by a cryostat (Leica CM 3050 S; Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) at -20°C.



Fig. 3. Tissues used for fluorescence or enzymatic immunohistochemistry were dissected from rat (left panel) or mouse. The corresponding tissue sections stained with hematoxyline and eosine are shown in the right panel.

The sections were collected on chrome-alun coated (0.5 % gelatin and 0.05 %  $KCr(SO_4)_2$ ) microscope slides and stored at  $-20^{\circ}C$ .

Air dried tissue sections and whole mount preparations of rat mesenteric arteries, fixed in paraformaldehyde (4 %) at 4 °C for 30 min and washed with PBS for six times 10 min, were pre-incubated with a PBS solution containing Triton X-100 (0.2 %) and bovine serum albumin (0.1 %) for 2 hours, after which the tissues were incubated with the primary antibody, (Table 1) diluted in PBS containing Triton X-100 (0.2 %) and bovine serum albumin (0.1 %), over night at room temperature in a humid chamber. The tissues were washed from excess unbound primary antibodies with PBS for three times 10 min and then incubated with a fluorophore secondary antibody at room temperature, either Texas Red (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA) for 30 min, Fluoresceinisothiocyanate (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) for 1 hour or Alexa Fluor 488/555/568/594 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) for 1 hour. The PBS wash was repeated before the tissues were dried and mounted with a PBS/glycerol solution. To reduce fading of FITC-conjugated sections, p-phenylenediamine was added to the mounting medium. When double immunohistochemistry was performed, the primary and secondary antibodies were incubated either separately or as a cocktail (Paper I). The primary antibodies were incubated as a cocktail over night and the secondary antibodies were incubated separately for 1 hour each with a PBS wash in between (Paper II and III).

The tissue sections were studied with a fluorescence microscope (Olympus Bx60F-3; Olympus America, Melville, NY) and images were acquired with a digital camera (Olympus DP50) attached to the microscope and analyzed with the software programs Studio Lite 1.0 and Viewfinder Lite 1.0 (Pixera Corporation, Los Gatos, CA) (Paper I and II). Confocal microscopy was performed on tissue sections and whole mount preparations of mesenteric artery with a confocal laser scanning microscope (Multiprobe 2001; Molecular Dynamics, Sunnyvale, CA). Auto focus and extended focus projections were made of the confocal section series with the software program ImageSpace 3.11 (Molecular Dynamics) (Paper I and II). Confocal microscopy was also performed with an Eclipse TE2000-S confocal laser scanning microscope (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan).

|            |          |               | <b>D</b> 11 //      | 9  |  |
|------------|----------|---------------|---------------------|--|--|
| Paper      | Antibody | Host          | Dilution            | Source   |  |
| Ι          | CB1a     | Rabbit        | 1:500               | A gift from K. Mackie (Nyíri et al. 2005; last 15 AAs in C-terminus)                               |  |
| Ι          | CB1b     | Rabbit        | 1:250               | A gift from K. Mackie (Hajos et al. 2000; entire C-terminus)                                       |  |
| Ι          | CB1c     | Rabbit        | 1:250               | A gift from K. Mackie (Twitchell et al. 1997; GST-<br>CB1:1-77)                                    |  |
| Ι          | CB1d     | Rabbit        | 1:250-<br>1:500     | Alexis, Lausen, Switzerland (210-197-1); Cayman<br>Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI (101500)                |  |
| Ι          | CB1e     | Rabbit        | 1:25                | Biosource International, Camarillo, CA (44-310);<br>Chemicon International, Hampshire, UK (AB9684) |  |
| I, II, III | CGRP     | Guinea<br>pig | 1:8000,<br>1:180000 | Euro-Diagnostica, Malmö, Sweden  |  |
| Ι          | ED1      | Mouse         | 1:500               | Serotec, Oxford, UK  |  |
| I, III     | NF200    | Mouse         | 1:800,<br>1:8000    | Sigma, St Louis, MO  |  |
| I, III     | PGP      | Rabbit        | 1:2000              | UltraClone, Isle of Wight, UK  |  |
| Ι          | rpHβ     | Mouse         | 1:500               | Medicorp, Montréal, Canada   |  |
| III        | SP       | Guinea<br>pig | 1:32000             | Euro-Diagnostica, Malmö, Sweden  |  |
| III        | TH       | Mouse         | 1:1000              | DiaSorin, Stillwater, MN   |  |
| II         | TRPA1    | Rabbit        | 1:250,<br>1:1000    | A gift from D. Julius  |  |
| III        | TRPM8    | Rabbit        | 1:32000             | Abcam, Camebridge, UK  |  |
| Ι          | TRPV1    | Rabbit        | 1:100               | EMD Biosciences, San Diego, CA   |  |
| II         | TRPV1    | Goat          | 1:1000              | Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA   |  |
| III        | TRPV1    | Rabbit        | 1:2000              | Affinity BioReagents, Golden, CO   |  |
| III        | TRPV2    | Rabbit        | 1:500               | Chemicon International, Temecula, CA   |  |
| III        | VIP      | Guinea<br>pig | 1:8000              | Euro-Diagnostica, Malmö, Sweden  |  |

Table 1. Primary antibodies used in this thesis

The primary antibodies ED1, NF200, rpH $\beta$  and TH are of monoclonal origin and the remaining of polyclonal origin. All antibodies are affinity purified. *Abbreviations are:* CB1; Cannabinoid CB1 receptor, CGRP; Calcitonin gene-related peptide, ED1; Ectodermal dysplasia, NF 200; Neurofilament 200 (kDa), PGP; Protein gene product 9.5, rpH $\beta$ ; rat prolyl 4-hydroxylase, SP; Substance P, TH; Tyrosine hydroxylase, TRPA1; Transient receptor potential ankyrin 1, TRPM8; transient receptor potential melastatin 8, TRPV1; Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1, TRPV2; Transient receptor potential vanilloid 2, VIP; Vasoactive intestinal peptide.

Maximum projection images of the confocal section series were acquired with the software program EZ-C1 Gold version 3.0 (Nikon) (Paper III). Deconvolution microscopy was performed with a DMRA epifluorescence microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany), when immunofluorescence intensity was too weak to allow optimal confocal microscopy. Series of 10-bit grey-scale digital images were acquired with a C4742-95 CCD camera (Hamamatsu, Japan) attached to the microscope and the software program Openlab 3.5 (Improvision, Coventry, UK). The image series were deconvolved using a 3D adaptive blind deconvolution algorithm in AutoDeblur 9.0 (AutoQuant Imaging, Watervliet, NY). Then, the deconvolved image series were imported to ImageSpace 3.11 (Molecular Dynamics) and projections were obtained. For processing of all images, Adobe Photoshop 7.0 (Adobe Systems, San Jose, CA) was used (Paper I). When sections were analyzed for co-localization, each layer in the Z-stack was examined at both 2D and 3D levels (Paper I-III).

To check whether the secondary antibodies used caused any unspecific immunoreactivity, control experiments without the primary antibody was performed. The immunoreactivity found in tissue sections treated with the secondary antibody alone was considered as unspecific. Furthermore, to verify that the primary antibodies were bound to the synthetic peptide they were raised against, control experiments with blocking peptides were performed. The primary antibody was pre-incubated with or without its blocking peptide over night at 4°C, followed by immunohistochemistry. Tissue sections treated with the primary antibody alone or together with its blocking peptide were then studied and compared. The immunoreactivity found in tissue sections treated with the primary antibody together with its blocking peptide was considered as unspecific.

## Enzymatic immunohistochemistry (Paper I-II)

In general, a weak signal was obtained with the CB1 receptor antibodies when fluorescence immunohistochemistry was performed. Therefore, a more sensitive enzymatic technique (Vectastain ABC kit; Vector laboratories, CA, USA) was mainly used to study CB1 receptor immunoreactivity (I). It was also used when dorsal root ganglion cells were tested for TRPA1 and TRPV1 immunoreactivity (II). The overall principle for enzymatic immunohistochemistry is the same as for fluorescence immunohistochemistry (Fig. 4), but instead of a fluorochrome, biotin is coup led to the secondary antibody.



Fig. 4. Schematic drawing of the principles of fluorescence and enzymatic immunohistochemistry. Both techniques are based on an antigen-antibody reaction. The primary antibody (made in e.g. rabbit) binds to a short amino acid sequence found on the surface of the antigen. The secondary antibody (e.g. anti rabbit) then binds to the primary antibody. To be able to detect the antigen-antibody complex, the secondary antibody is coupled to a fluorochrome or a biotin/avidin complex in the fluorescence and enzymatic technique, respectively. When the fluorochrome-coupled secondary antibody-antigen complex is radiated with UV-light, it appears as a coloured product, usually red or green, in the fluorescence microscope. The biotin/avidin-coupled secondary antibody-antigen complex is further treated with a biotin-coupled horse radish peroxidase (HRP), which together with diaminobenzidine (DAB) and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, gives rise to a brown product that is observed with a light microscope.

The biotinylated secondary antibody binds to an ABC complex, containing avidin and biotinylated horseradish peroxidase (HRP), with very high affinity. Finally, when HRP are mixed with its substrate, diaminobenzidine (DAB) and  $H_2O_2$ , a brown precipitate is produced in the cells or tissues, which can be detected with a light microscope.

The cerebellum, dorsal root ganglia, hindpaw skin and mesenteric arteries were fixed, cryoprotected and sectioned as described for fluorescence immunohistochemistry. Air dried tissue sections (10 µm thick) were pre-incubated with a PBS solution containing Triton X-100 (0.3 %) for 5 min before H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (1 %) was added to prevent endogenous peroxidase activity. After another 5 min the sections were washed with the PBS solution containing Triton X-100 (0.3 %). The sections were then incubated with normal goat serum, to prevent unspecific background staining, for 45 min at room temperature and washed once more before they were incubated with the primary antibody, diluted in PBS containing Triton X-100 (0.3 %), (Table 1) over night at room temperature in a humid chamber. The sections were washed from unbound primary antibodies and incubated with the biotinylated secondary anti rabbit antibody for 2 hours at room temperature. The wash was repeated and ABC-reagent was added to the sections for 1 hour at room temperature. The wash was repeated once more before the sections were pre-incubated in the dark with a PBS solution containing Triton X-100 (0.3 %) and diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB; 0.25 mg/ml), pH 7.6, for 10 min. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (0.03 %) was then added to the previous solution and the slides were removed after 100 s. Washed and dried sections were mounted with Keiser's glycerol gelatin mounting medium. The tissue sections were studied with a light microscope (Olympus Bx60F-3; Olympus America, Melville, NY) and images were acquired with a digital camera (Olympus DP50) attached to the microscope and analyzed with the software programs Studio Lite 1.0 and Viewfinder Lite 1.0 (Pixera Corporation, Los Gatos, CA). Control experiments were performed as described for fluorescence immunohistochemistry.

## **Recording of tension (Paper I-II)**

The organ bath technique was used to record vasorelaxation as a physiological readout of the efferent activity of primary sensory neurons.

Rat mesenteric arteries were cut into ring segments (1-2 mm long) and mounted on two parallel steel pins in tissue baths (Fig. 5), containing 2.5 or 5 ml physiological salt solution of the following composition (in mM): NaCl 119, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 15, KCl 4.6, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 1.5, NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 and (+)-glucose 5.5.



Fig. 5. Tissue bath used to record relaxation of blood vessels. **A**, A ring segment of a blood vessel is mounted on two parallel steel pins in a tissue bath that contains 5 ml of a physiological salt solution (a). One of the pins (b) is connected to a displacement device, which is adjusted until a proper resting tension of the vessel is obtained and the other (c) to a FT03C force-displacement transducer (Grass Instruments, USA). The latter is connected to a 7D polygraph (Grass Instruments), where the isometric tension is recorded. **B**, A schematic drawing of the blood vessel mounted in the tissue bath (a) and an enlargement of the vessel wall showing its different layers. Relaxation of the smooth muscle cells within the blood vessel, recorded by the polygraph, is due to the release of the neuropeptide CGRP from the nerve fibres in the outermost layer of the blood vessel.

The physiological salt solution was continuously bubbled with a mixture of 95 %  $O_2$  and 5 %  $CO_2$  at 37°C, resulting in a pH of 7.4. The arteries were allowed to equilibrate for about one hour and during this period they were repeatedly stretched until a stable resting tension of a certain value was obtained (for details, see Högestätt et. al 1983<sup>118</sup>). A force-displacement transducer (FT03C; Grass Instruments, USA) connected to a polygraph (Grass Instruments) was used to measure isometric tension. All experiments were performed in the presence of N $\omega$ -nitro-L-arginine (0.3 mM) and indomethacin (10  $\mu$ M) to eliminate any contribution of nitric oxide and cyclooxygenase products, respectively. Relaxations were studied in arteries contracted with phenylephrine (3  $\mu$ M).

When stable contractions were obtained, the agonists capsaicin, anandamide, allyl isothiocyanate (AITC), allicin or diallyl disulfide (DADS) were added cumulatively to determine concentration-response relationships. The effects of HU210 (0.1  $\mu$ M), SR141716A (0.3  $\mu$ M), ruthenium red (3  $\mu$ M), capsazepine (3  $\mu$ M), capsaicin (10  $\mu$ M), 8-37 CGRP (3  $\mu$ M) and vehicle (EtOH; 0.1 %) on vasorelaxation were recorded after pre-exposing arteries to these test substances for 30 min. Each vessel segment was exposed to only one treatment. Relaxation is presented as a percentage of the contraction caused by phenylephrine (3  $\mu$ M).

#### Measurement of CGRP (Paper I)

The sensory neuropeptide calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) is released from the peripheral terminals of primary sensory neurons, innervating tissues such as rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery, upon activation and can be detected using the radioimmunoassay (RIA) technique. This approach makes it possible to study pre-synaptic effects on sensory nerves and allowed us to examine the possible regulatory role of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor on TRPV1-mediated activation of such nerves.

Segments of rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery (1-2 cm) were equilibrated for 1 hour in aerated physiological salt solution (95 %  $O_2$  and 5 %  $CO_2$ ; 37 °C; pH 7.4) of the following composition (in mM): NaCl 119, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 15, KCl 4.6, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 1.5, NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 and (+)-glucose 5.5, containing phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (0.1 mM) and thiorphan (10  $\mu$ M) to prevent degradation of anandamide by fatty acid amide hydrolase and CGRP by endopeptidases, respectively.

The equilibrated skin segments were pre-treated with either capsazepine (10  $\mu$ M), anandamide (0.01  $\mu$ M or 10  $\mu$ M), HU210 (0.1  $\mu$ M), SR141716A (0.3  $\mu$ M) or vehicle (EtOH; 0.1 %) in physiological salt solution for 20 min. The segments were then transferred to Eppendorff tubes containing a HEPES buffer solution (NaCl 119 mM, KCl 4.6 mM, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 1.5 mM, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 mM, HEPES 5 mM and (+)-glucose 6.0 mM), supplied with phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (0.1 mM), thiorphan (10  $\mu$ M) and bovine serum albumin (0.05 %), and further treated with either capsaicin (0.01–100  $\mu$ M), anandamide (10  $\mu$ M) or vehicle (EtOH; 0.1 %). After 15 min, the segments were removed and the solution in the test tubes subsequently evaporated using a SpeedVac AES 2000 (Savant Instruments, Farmingdale, NY). The amount of CGRP in the remaining pellet was determined using a rat <sup>125</sup>I-CGRP Radioimmunoassay kit (RIK-6006) from Peninsula Laboratories, San Carlos, CA. To determine the protein contents in the mesenteric arteries, a Coomassie Plus protein assay reagent kit from Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL, was used.

## Competitive radioimmunoassay

The kit is able to measure a CGRP concentration of 1-640 pg/ml and according to this interval a standard dilution series was made. The evaporated pellets were reconstituted with 500  $\mu$ l RIA buffer. To 100  $\mu$ l of standards and samples in duplicates, 100  $\mu$ l of a primary antibody, raised in rabbit against rat  $\alpha$ -CGRP, was added. The tubes were incubated over night at 4°C. To compensate for efficiency differences between different gamma counters, the quantity of the tracer <sup>125</sup>I-CGRP was optimized to achieve a cpm-value between 10 000 and 15 000 cpm. When the desired cpm value was reached, 100 µl of the tracer was added to each tube and incubated over night at 4°C. 100 µl of goat anti rabbit IgG serum and 100 µl normal rabbit serum was added to all tubes. After incubation for 90 min at room temperature, an additional volume of 500 µl RIA buffer was added and the tubes were centrifuged (Sigma 4K-1; Axel Johnson Instrument, Stockholm, Sweden) at 3000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. The supernatants were aspirated and the remaining pellets analysed of their CGRP content in a gamma counter (1277 Gammamaster; LKB Wallac, Turku, Finland). From a standard curve (prepared by the software program RiaCalc 2.50; LKB Wallac) the CGRP content in pg/ml was determined. The CGRP contents of the skin were then related to their weight and presented as fmol CGRP/g tissue, while the mesenteric arteries were related to their protein contents and presented as fmol CGRP/mg protein.

#### Protein assay

The mesenteric arteries used in CGRP release studies were homogenized by hand (Kontes glass CO, Duall 21), where after the homogenates were collected in glass tubes and centrifuged (Sigma 4K-1) at 3 000 rpm for 15 min at 10°C. The supernatants were poured off and the pellets reconstituted with 150  $\mu$ l 2 M NaOH and 150  $\mu$ l 1 M HCl. A standard dilution series was made from an albumin standard (2 mg/ml). To 100  $\mu$ l of standards and samples in duplicates, 400  $\mu$ l of coomassie stain was added. 350  $\mu$ l of the stained solutions were then added to a 96 well micro plate and read for protein content (Titertek Multiscan Plus spectrophotometer) at 595 nm.

## <sup>3</sup>H-noradrenaline release (Paper I)

This technique was used to study the effects of the cannabinoid agonists HU210 and anandamide on sympathetic nerves in rat mesenteric arteries. Briefly, rat mesenteric arteries pre-loaded with <sup>3</sup>H-noradrenaline were electrically stimulated to cause a depolarisation of the surrounding nerves, causing a release of neurotransmitters, among them <sup>3</sup>H-noradrenaline. The arteries were stimulated three times, but before the third stimulation the test substances were added. The released <sup>3</sup>H-noradrenaline was counted using a  $\beta$ -counter.

Segments of rat mesenteric arteries (1-2 cm) were equilibrated for 30 min in aerated physiological salt solution (95% O<sub>2</sub> and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>; 37°C; pH 7.4) of the following composition (in mM): NaCl 119, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 15, KCl 4.6, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 1.5, NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 and (+)-glucose 5.5, followed by another 30 min period in physiological salt solution, containing <sup>3</sup>H-noradrenaline (1  $\mu$ M; specific activity 12 Ci/mmol). Preparations were then rinsed and transferred to temperature-controlled Perspex chambers perfused with physiological salt solution (95% O<sub>2</sub> and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>; 37°C; pH 7.4) for 40 min before subjected to electrical stimulation. Electrical field stimulation of preparations was achieved by delivering square wave pulses with a duration of 0.3 ms at a frequency of 10 Hz in 1 s trains with 5 s interval over a period of 1 min. The preparations were stimulated 3 times (S<sub>1</sub>-S<sub>3</sub>) with 12 min intervals between stimulations. HU210 (0.1  $\mu$ M) and anandamide (10  $\mu$ M), vehicle or tetrodotoxin (1  $\mu$ M) was introduced 8 min before the third stimulation period (S<sub>3</sub>). The <sup>3</sup>H activity in collected samples of perfusate and in tissue was measured by a liquid scintillation spectrometer (RackBeta 1215, LKB, Sweden).

#### Calcium imaging and voltage-clamp recordings (Paper II)

The patch-clamp technique and calcium imaging were used in this thesis to study the ion channel TRPA1.

### Calcium imaging

When the TRP ion channel, TRPA1, is activated it opens and extracellular calcium is allowed to pass into the cell. This raise in intracellular calcium can be measured by a calcium imaging technique, which is based on changes in light intensity that occurs when a calcium indicator, for example Fura-2, is bound to free intracellular calcium. In more detail, the cells are preloaded with the calcium indicator and exposed to UV-light, when a substance has been added to the cells. An absorption shift of Fura-2 occurs when it binds to calcium that can be observed by scanning the excitation spectrum between 300 and 400 nm, while monitoring the emission at 510 nm. The light intensity is measured over time, thus the more calcium that is passed into the cell and binds to Fura-2, the higher intensity.

Cultured trigeminal neurons<sup>98</sup> and Human Embryonic Kidney (HEK)293t cells expressing the human TRPA1<sup>119</sup> were loaded with the ratiometric calcium indicator Fura-2 acetoxymethyl ester (10  $\mu$ M) diluted in Ringer's solution containing (in mM): NaCl 140, KCl 5, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 2, glucose 10, HEPES 10, pH 7.4, with pluronic acid (0.02 %) for 60 min and in CIB buffer containing (in mM): NaCl 130, KCl 3, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2.5, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 0.6, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 1.2, glucose 10, HEPES 10, pH 7.45, with pluronic acid (0.02 %) for 30 min, respectively. The cells were rinsed twice before either garlic extract (diluted 1:10 000), allicin (40  $\mu$ M) or diallyl disulfide (DADS; 200  $\mu$ M) were added. Ratiometric calcium imaging was then performed, where dual images (340 and 380 nm excitation, 510 nm emission) were collected and pseudocolour ratiometric images monitored during the experiment. The cells were observed for 60-120 s.

## Whole-cell patch-clamp

The cell membrane of a *Xenopus laevis* oocyte expressing human TRPA1 was patched by a glass-pipette electrode filled with a physiological salt solution, ND96 containing (in mM): NaCl 96, KCl 2, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 1.8, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1, HEPES 5, pH 7.6. When the electrode is in contact with this solution it conducts the electrical changes to a voltage clamp amplifier. The glass-pipette electrode is pressed against the cell membrane and a gentle suction is applied to the inside of the electrode to pull the cell's membrane inside the tip of the electrode.

The suction causes the cell to form a tight seal with the electrode, a so-called gigaohm seal. With the cell patched to the electrode a stronger suction was briefly applied which causes the patched cell membrane to break and the interior of the glass-pipette becomes continuous with the cytoplasm of the cell. This arrangement allows measurements of electrical currents from the entire cell and is therefore called the whole-cell recording method. The whole-cell configuration also allows diffusional exchange between the pipette and the cytoplasm, producing a convenient way to inject substances into the interior of a patched cell. Currents were recorded in the TRPA1 expressing oocyte in the absence and presence of allicin (3  $\mu$ M), allyl isothiocyanate (AITC; 200  $\mu$ M) or diallyl disulfide (DADS).

## Quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR) (Paper III)

With quantitative real time PCR small amounts of mRNA encoding a specific protein in cells or tissues can be detected, since the measurement is made in real time. This technique was used to detect the mRNA of TRPA1, TRPM8, TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPV3 in human skin biopsies of three healthy volunteers.

#### RNA isolation

Punch biopsies (3 mm in diameter) from the skin of the lateral upper arm 10 cm below the lateral margin of the acromion of three healthy volunteers (45 years, female; 52 years, female; 35 years, male) were collected under local anaesthesia. The biopsies were placed and homogenized in 800 µl Trizol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) reagent containing 10 µg glycogen (Invitrogen). The homogenized biopsies were incubated for 5 min at room temperature to permit complete dissociation of nucleoprotein complexes. 160 µl chloroform (Sigma, St Louis, MO) was added to the homogenates and the tubes were shaked vigorously by hand for 15 s followed by a 3 min incubation at room temperature. The tubes were centrifuged at 10 600 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C. Following centrifugation, the mixture separates into, a lower red phenol-chloroform phase, an interphase and a colourless upper aqueous phase. The aqueous phase containing RNA and glycogen was transferred to fresh tubes to which 400 µl isopropyl alcohol (Sigma) were added. The tubes were incubated for 10 min at room temperature and then centrifuged at 10 600 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatants were poured off and the RNA pellets were washed twice with 800 µl 75 % ethanol. The samples were mixed by vortexing and centrifuged at 8400 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C. The supernatants were poured off and the RNA pellets were briefly air dried. Finally the RNA pellets were dissolved in DEPC

(Sigma)-treated water and incubated for 10 min at 60 °C. The concentration of total RNA was measured with a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Saveen Werner, Malmö, Sweden).

## cDNA synthesis

1  $\mu$ l total RNA (250 ng) or 1  $\mu$ l diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated water was added to a PCR-tube containing MgCl<sub>2</sub> solution (25mM), RNase inhibitor (2000 Units), RT-buffer (10x), dNTP mix (with dTTP; 2.5 mM each), Random hexamers (50  $\mu$ M), MultiScribe reverse transcriptase (5000 Units) and DEPC-treated water (to a final volume of 100  $\mu$ l) from Taqman Reverse Transcriptase kit (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). The PCR was run at 25 °C for 10 min, at 48 °C for 30 min and at 95 °C for 5 min with a GeneAmp PCR system 2400 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA).

## RT-PCR

5 μl cDNA or water was added to a 96-well plate containing universal PCR master mix (2x; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA), Primer and Probe (20x; TaqMan Gene Expression Assays TRPA1, TRPM8, TRPV1, TRPV2, TRPV3 and β-actin (human); Applied Biosystems) and water (to a final volume of 25  $\mu$ l). All samples were added as triplets. The RT-PCR reaction was run at 50 °C for 2 min, at 95 °C for 10 min, at 95 °C for 0.15 min (40 cycles) and at 60 °C for 1 min with an ABI Prism 7700 (Applied Biosystems). The samples were related to the house keeping β-actin (human). C<sub>T</sub>-values below 35 are considered positive and low amounts are referred to as C<sub>T</sub> 30-35.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### TRPV1 - a nociceptor modulated by the cannabinoid CB1 receptor? (Paper I)

Activation of TRPV1 on sensory nerves triggers pain and local vasodilatation<sup>5,68,120</sup>. One mechanism by which an analgesic drug could work is through inhibition of TRPV1 either directly by binding to TRPV1 as an antagonist, or indirectly by activating an inhibitory receptor signalling pathway on TRPV1-containing nerves in peripheral tissues. This latter mechanism is believed to contribute to the analgesic effect of CB1 receptor agonists<sup>60-63</sup>. However, there is no direct evidence of the presence of such neuronal CB1 receptors in peripheral tissues. We therefore used immunohistochemistry and assays of sensory neurotransmitter release to characterize the neuronal distribution and function of the CB1 receptor relative TRPV1 in the rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery, tissues frequently used in the study of sensory neurotransmission.

## CB1 receptor immunoreactivity in hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery

The putative presence of peripheral neuronal cannabinoid CB1 receptors in rat and mouse hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery was examined by immunohistochemistry with five different CB1 receptor antibodies; two raised against the C-terminal and three against the Nterminal of the CB1 receptor. Immunoreactivity was observed with all five antibodies in perivascular nerve fibres (Fig. 3 in paper I), epidermal keratinocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells (tunica media) in hind paw skin (Fig. 1 in paper I). In addition, the C-terminal antibodies displayed immunoreactivity in skeletal muscle in the dermal layer. The N-terminal antibodies also recognized cells throughout the dermal layer. These cells were characterized as fibroblasts and macrophages/monocytes using antibodies against rpH $\beta$  and ED1, markers of fibroblasts and macrophages/monocytes, respectively (Figs. 1 and 4 in paper I). In the mesenteric artery, immunoreactivity was seen with all five antibodies in nerve fibres within the adventitia and in smooth muscle cells of the media (Fig. 5 in paper I). In addition, the Nterminal antibodies stained cells throughout the adventitia, which were characterized as fibroblasts and macrophages/monocytes (Fig. 6 in paper I). For each antibody, there was no difference in the staining pattern between rat and mouse and between wild-type and CB1 receptor-deficient mice. (Figs. 1, 3 and 5 in paper I). Taken together, these findings indicate that the staining obtained with all five CB1 receptor antibodies in skin and mesenteric artery of rat and mouse is unrelated to the CB1 receptor.

#### CB1 receptor immunoreactivity in cerebellum

CB1 receptors are widely distributed in the central nervous system, including the cerebellum, as shown by immunohistochemical studies<sup>121</sup>. We therefore used the rat and mouse cerebellum as positive controls of CB1 receptor immunoreactivity. The two C-terminal antibodies showed immunoreactivity in basket cells forming synapses with purkinje cells in rat and mouse cerebellum (Fig. 7A-B and D-E in paper I), consistent with findings in previous studies <sup>121</sup>. Such immunoreactivity was not present in CB1 receptor-deficient mice (Fig. 7C and F in paper I). Amongst the tested N-terminal antibodies, no immunoreactivity was detected with CB1c (Fig. 7G-I in paper I) and CB1e (Fig. 7M-O in paper I), whereas CB1d (Fig. 7J-L in paper I) displayed immunoreactivity in purkinje cells. However, this staining was also present in cerebellum of CB1 receptor-deficient mice. Taken together, only the two C-terminal CB1 receptor antibodies recognize the CB1 receptor in the cerebellum of rat and mouse. No immunoreactivity was observed with the N-terminal antibodies CB1c and CB1e, whereas the CB1d immunostaining turned out to be unspecific.

## Immunohistochemical localization of TRPV1 in rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery

The normal distribution pattern of nerve fibres in the rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery is illustrated by the common nerve marker PGP. In skin, nerve fibres are found throughout the epidermal and dermal layers (Fig. 8A in paper I), while in artery, a dense network of nerve fibres is found in the adventitia (Fig. 9A in paper I). TRPV1 is often used as a marker for sensory nerves, which are known to innervate skin and blood vessels<sup>122,123</sup>. Thus, we find TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres in the epidermal and upper dermal layers (Fig. 8B and E in paper I). These nerve fibres also show immunoreactivity for the sensory neuropeptide CGRP (Fig. 8C and D in paper I). In mesenteric artery, a dense network of TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres are found in the outermost adventitia and these fibres are also immunoreactive for the sensory neuropeptide CGRP (Fig. 9C, E, and F in paper I). In dorsal root ganglia, TRPV1 is found on small and medium sized neurons, representing unmyelinated C-fibres and lightly myelinated A $\delta$ -fibres, respectively<sup>26</sup>. To find out whether this is also true in the skin and mesenteric artery of rat the myelin marker NF200 was used to identify myelinated nerves. NF200 immunoreactive nerve fibres and nerve bundles (not shown) are found in the dermal layer of the skin (Fig. 8F in paper I), but these nerve fibres do not show immunoreactivity for TRPV1 (Fig. 8G in paper I). Likewise, the dense network of NF200 immunoreactive nerve fibres in the adventitia of mesenteric artery does not display immunoreactivity for TRPV1 (Fig. 9H and I in paper I).

The TRPV1 immunoreactivity in the rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery was validated in corresponding tissues from three TRPV1-deficient mice. Although the TRPV1 antibody used in these experiments was not the same as the TRPV1 antibody used in paper I, since the latter one was no longer available, the two antibodies displayed an identical staining pattern. Furthermore, there seems to be no difference in TRPV1 immunoreactivity in hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery between rat and mouse (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6. Confocal images of TRPV1 immunoreactivity in hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery of TRPV1<sup>+/+</sup> and TRPV1<sup>-/-</sup> mice. TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres (arrows) are found in the epidermis/dermis region of skin from normal mouse (upper row) and in the adventitia of mesenteric artery (lower row). No immunoreactivity in nerve fibres were observed in skin (upper row) or mesenteric artery (lower row) from TRPV1 deficient mouse. The inner elastic membrane (i.em, arrowheads) and the outer elastic membrane (o.em, arrowheads) were stained by the secondary antibody alone, thus considered as an unspecific immunoreactivity. Scale bars represent 25 μm in all images. The TRPV1 primary antibody was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA) and the secondary antibody Alexa Fluor 488 from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR).

Taken together, these findings indicate that the TRPV1 immunoreactive nerves in rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery are unmyelinated C-fibres, of which many contain the sensory neuropeptide CGRP.

## *Effects of HU210 and anandamide on TRPV1-mediated CGRP release in rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery*

The effects of CB1 receptor activation on TRPV1-mediated CGRP release was studied in rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery. As expected from a previous study (Richardson et al. 1998), capsaicin evoked the release of CGRP in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. 10A in paper I). The capsaicin-induced release of CGRP from rat hindpaw skin is inhibited by the TRPV1 antagonist capsazepine (Fig. 10A in paper I), indicating that the CGRP release is mediated through TRPV1. This is in agreement with our immunohistochemical findings. In addition to the endocannabinoid anandamide, the effect of the potent synthetic CB1 receptor agonist HU210 was also studied on capsaicin-induced CGRP release from rat hindpaw skin. Neither anandamide (0.01  $\mu$ M) nor HU210 (0.1  $\mu$ M) had any effect on CGRP release (Fig. 10B in paper I). A higher concentration of anandamide (10  $\mu$ M) also has no effect on capsaicin-induced CGRP release (basal, 34.7 ± 5.4 fmol/g tissue; capsaicin, 528.7 ± 95.4 fmol/g tissue; capsaicin + anandamide, 387 ± 136 fmol/g tissue; n = 5-6, one-way ANOVA). Taken together, the CB1 receptor agonists HU210 and anandamide had no effect on the TRPV1-mediated CGRP release from rat hindpaw skin.

The rat isolated mesenteric artery is a useful model for studying vascular sensory nerve responses triggered by irritants such as capsaicin<sup>68</sup>. Via activation of TRPV1, capsaicin relaxes mesenteric arteries as a result of CGRP release from sensory nerves. In the present study, this relaxation was unaffected by the CB1 receptor agonist HU210 (0.1  $\mu$ M; Fig. 11A in paper I).

#### TRPA1 - a nociceptor that recognizes pungent products from garlic (Paper II)

Garlic has long been used as a medical remedy for treating a wide range of ailments, including hypertension, high cholesterol and thrombosis<sup>124</sup>, but it is also known to cause adverse effects such as cutaneous irritation, oedema and allergic contact dermatitis<sup>125-127</sup>. The mechanisms of action behind these effects are so far not clearly understood. Crushed fresh garlic is known to generate organosulphur compounds, such as allicin and diallyl disulfide (DADS)<sup>128,129</sup>, which share certain chemical properties with allyl isothiocyanate (AITC), the pungent ingredient in wasabi and other mustard plants<sup>130</sup>. AITC and other plant-derived irritants, including capsaicin, are known to activate the TRP ion channels TRPA1 and TRPV1, respectively, on primary sensory neurons that can induce pain and vasodilatation<sup>17,35,131</sup>. In light of this, we studied the pharmacology of garlic extract and its derivatives allicin and DADS with reference to primary sensory neurons.

#### Garlic activates primary sensory neurons

Measurement of intracellular calcium levels in primary cell cultures of trigeminal ganglia (TG) and dorsal root ganglia (DRG) were used to study the effects of garlic on primary sensory neurons. When TG and DRG neurons were exposed to fresh garlic extract, purified allicin, or DADS, the intracellular calcium levels increased (Fig. 2A-C in paper II). This effect was completely lost when the sensory neurons were pre-treated with the non-selective TRP ion channel blocker, ruthenium red, which indicates that the calcium responses caused by garlic and its derivatives allicin and DADS are mediated by TRP ion channels. All TG and DRG neurons activated by AITC, which is a known TRPA1 agonist<sup>35</sup>, also responded to garlic extract, purified allicin or DADS. This subtype of neuron is also sensitive to capsaicin<sup>35</sup>, a TRPV1 receptor agonist, but represents only half of the capsaicin-sensitive population of neurons (Fig. 2D in paper II). This suggests that the TRP ion channel, TRPV1, is not the primary target for garlic. To further examine this possibility, calcium imaging was performed on TG neurons from wild-type and TRPV1-deficient mice exposed to garlic extract, purified allicin, DADS and AITC. The number of responding was the same in wildtype and TRPV1-deficient mice, which shows that TRPV1 is of minor importance in the action of garlic and mustard oil (Fig. 2E in paper II). Taken together, these results suggest that garlic and its derivatives allicin and DADS activate TRP ion channels different from TRPV1 on a mustard oil- and capsaicin-sensitive subtype of primary sensory neurons.

#### Garlic activates the TRP ion channel TRPA1

Since mustard oil- and garlic-sensitive neurons displayed a complete overlap, the effect of fresh garlic extract, purified allicin, or DADS intracellular calcium levels were studied in HEK293 cells expressing human or rat TRPA1. All compounds generated a robust increase in calcium (Fig. 3A-C in paper II). Thus, like AITC, garlic extract, allicin and DADS act as TRPA1 agonists. These results were supported by patch-clamp recordings of *Xenopus* oocytes expressing human TRPA1, which upon stimulation with allicin and DADS produced robust membrane currents (Fig. 3D and E in paper II).

## Garlic produces vasodilatation of rat mesenteric artery

Peripheral nerve endings of primary sensory neurons (nociceptors) are known to release sensory neuropeptides such as CGRP and SP upon stimulation, which in mucous membranes may cause flare (vasodilatation) and oedema (vascular leakage), signs typical of inflammation<sup>68,132,133</sup>. TRPA1 and TRPV1 are expressed by such primary sensory neurons<sup>34,35,49,116,134</sup>, the efferent function of which can be studied as vasodilatation in arterial segments of the rat mesenteric artery. This experimental model was used to understand the mechanism behind the vasodilatory effects of garlic compounds and mustard oil (Fig. 4A in paper II).

Fresh garlic extract, allicin, DADS and AITC all induced concentration-dependent and complete relaxations of mesenteric arterial segments (Fig. 4B-E in paper II). These relaxations were inhibited with the CGRP receptor antagonist, 8-37 CGRP, indicating that the vasodilatory responses to these compounds are due to a release of CGRP from primary sensory neurons. The non-selective TRP ion channel blocker ruthenium red, but not the TRPV1 antagonist capsazepine inhibited these vasodilatations, indicating that fresh garlic extract, allicin, DADS and AITC produce their effects by activating TRP ion channels different from TRPV1. The pharmacological profile of the garlic-derived compounds and mustard oil was consistent with an activation of TRPA1 on capsaicin-sensitive, CGRP-containing nerve fibres that innervate vascular smooth muscle.

## TRPA1 immunoreactivity in primary sensory neurons

Immunohistochemistry was used to study the expression of native TRPA1 in rat DRG neurons. Approximately 22 % and 54 % of all DRG neurons showed TRPA1 and TRPV1 immunoreactivity, respectively (Fig. 5A-C in paper II). All TRPA1 immunoreactive neurons

also showed immunoreactivity for TRPV1 (Fig. 5D in paper II). Many of the TRPA1containing neurons also contained CGRP (Fig. 5E in paper II). A similar pattern of TRPA1 immunoreactivity was seen in peripheral nerve fibres in mesenteric arteries (Fig. 5F in paper II). Taken together, these histological findings are in line with the physiological results indicating that TRPA1 activates a subtype of capsaicin-sensitive, CGRP-containing primary sensory neurons. Indeed, a recent study using TRPA1 knock-out mice shows that the effects of allicin and AITC are exclusively dependent on TRPA1<sup>135</sup>.

#### Are TRPV2 and TRPM8 present on sensory nerve fibres in human skin? (Paper III)

Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1), vanilloid 2 (TRPV2) and melastatin 8 (TRPM8) are thermosensitive cation channels expressed in primary sensory neurons<sup>26,27,97,98</sup>. In human skin, synthetic and endogenous TRPV1 agonists produce pain and vasodilatation, which are inhibited by the TRPV1 blocker capsazepine<sup>136,137</sup>. The TRPM8 agonist menthol produces a cooling sensation as well as thermal and mechanical hyperalgesia when topically applied on the skin and mucous membranes in man<sup>138,139</sup>. TRPV2 is activated by noxious heat (> 52°C) and as such represents another potential molecular heat sensor<sup>27</sup>. Although such evidence suggests that TRPV2 and TRPM8 may have a role as molecular nociceptors in human skin, there is no immunohistochemical evidence of the existence of TRPV2 or TRPM8 in this tissue. In the present study, we used immunohistochemistry to study the expression of TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 in human skin from healthy individuals and individuals with a critical mutation in the gene encoding nerve growth factor beta (NGF $\beta$ ) that causes Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain<sup>140</sup>.

#### Skin innervation in healthy volunteers

The skin is a complex organ with many structural and functional components. Many of which are richly supplied with nerve fibres, as demonstrated by the general nerve marker PGP (Fig. 2 and Table 2 in paper III). Nerve fibres immunoreactive for NF200, a marker of myelinated nerves, and the sensory neuropeptides calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) and SP show a pattern of distribution similar to that of PGP immunoreactive nerve fibres (Table 2 in paper III). Noteworthy, only very few NF200 immunoreactive nerve fibres were found in epidermis, and although CGRP and SP displayed a similar pattern of immunoreactivity, substantially fewer fibres containing SP were found compared to CGRP. Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), markers of nerve fibres belonging to the autonomic nervous system, are absent in the epidermis and papillary dermis, but otherwise have a similar pattern of distribution as PGP (Table 2 in paper III).

TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 immunoreactive nerve fibres are seen in the epidermis-papillary dermis region, and in nerve bundles and around blood vessels and hair follicles in the dermis (Table 2 in paper III). None of the TRP ion channels are present around eccrine sweat glands and arrector pili muscles (Table 2 in paper III). TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres are most abundant in the epidermis and papillary dermis, while TRPV2 and TRPM8 immunoreactive nerve fibres are most abundant in the papillary dermis.

In general, there are fewer TRPV2 and TRPM8 than TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres. To further characterize the TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 immunoreactive nerve fibres, co-localization experiments were performed (Table 3 in paper III). All three TRP ion channels co-localized with the sensory neuropeptides CGRP and to a lesser extent with SP, but not with NF200, VIP or TH (Figs. 3-5 in paper III). Taken together, these data indicates that TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 are expressed by unmyelinated C-fibres containing the sensory neuropeptides CGRP and/or SP in human skin.

## Skin innervation in Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain

In contrast to normal skin, which is densely innervated in the epidermis and dermis, skin from heterozygous and homozygous individuals, carrying the gene mutation for Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain, shows only a sparse innervation, as demonstrated by the general nerve marker PGP (Fig. 6A, F and K in paper III). Some nerve fibres in normal skin are (i) myelinated, as shown by the nerve marker NF200 (Fig. 6B in paper III), (ii) CGRP or SP immunoreactive (Fig. 7 in paper III), or (iii) belong to the autonomic nervous system, as shown by the nerve markers VIP and TH (Fig. 6D and E in paper III). In heterozygous and homozygous individuals, only a few nerve fibres expressing NF200, CGRP or SP are present in the epidermis and papillary dermis (Fig. 6G and L, and Fig. 7 in paper III). A few VIP and TH immunoreactive nerve fibres are seen in between eccrine sweat glands in the deep part of dermis in heterozygous individuals, whereas no such nerves are found in homozygous individuals (Fig. 6I-J and N-O in paper III).

TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 are all found on nerve fibres in epidermis and papillary dermis of normal skin (Fig. 6C and Fig.7 in paper III), but only a few such nerve fibres are present in these regions in skin from heterozygous individuals (Fig. 6H and Fig. 7 in paper III). In skin from homozygous individuals, no TRPV1 immunoreactive fibres and only a few TRPV2 and TRPM8 immunoreactive nerve fibres are found (Fig. 6M and Fig. 7 in paper III). Taken together, a substantial reduction of various types of nerve fibre within both the sensory and autonomic nervous system is observed in skin from individuals with Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain.

#### GENERAL DISCUSSION

## Methodological aspects

Immunohistochemistry is a widely used technique in both cutting edge research and routine medical care to visualize proteins in biological tissues. In this thesis, immunohistochemistry is a key technique for studying the expression of proteins, such as TRP ion channels and CB1 receptors, within the somatosensory nervous system. The development of confocal microscopy has substantially advanced this methodology. In particular, confocal immunohistochemistry allows co-localization of two or more proteins in the same cell or tissue structure. I have personally experienced the advantage of this technique over traditional immunohistochemistry when co-localizing proteins in small tissue elements. As clearly demonstrated in paper I (Figs. 8E-G and 9G-I) and in paper III (Figs. 3-5), only confocal immunohistochemistry could adequately exclude co-localization of two proteins in small nerve fibres, because several layers throughout the entire tissue section could be analysed separately. The conclusions in many earlier studies of co-localization using traditional microscopy will probably need to be revised in the light of this technical advancement.

A main problem with immunohistochemistry, regardless of the microscopy technique used, is how to ensure that the staining obtained is indeed reflecting the expression of the target of interest. There are various procedures available to exclude off-target binding of the antibody. For example, monoclonal antibodies can be used instead of polyclonal antibodies to enhance the specificity of the staining. However, monoclonal antibodies are not easily available and are mainly produced in mouse. This is a clear disadvantage in double immunohistochemistry, which requires primary antibodies from different species. When performing fluorescence immunohistochemistry, whether using polyclonal or monoclonal primary antibodies, it is important to include appropriate control experiments. First, it is necessary to determine whether the tissue section under study produces auto fluorescence. This is a common problem with immunological cells and therefore other immunohistochemical techniques are often preferred. Second, it is important to make sure that a positive immunoreactivity is not due to the properties of the secondary antibody. The staining of the inner and outer elastic membranes of arteries in Fig. 6 (see Results and Discussion) and the outer epidermis in human skin (Fig. 1, paper III) are examples of such undesirable staining caused by the secondary antibody. Since this is a very common problem, control experiments should always be performed with each secondary antibody.

Third, the primary antibody should be incubated with the corresponding peptide used for immunization (blocking peptide) to exclude unspecific immunoreactivity. Any remaining staining in the tissue indicates that the primary antibody binds to structures different from the desired target. In paper III (Fig. 3), blocking of TRPV1 revealed that the intense small dots scattered throughout the epidermis were due to unspecific staining caused by the primary antibody. Fourth, the ultimate control experiment to verify antibody specificity is to compare immunoreactivity in normal tissue with tissue from knock-out animals, where the gene of the target protein has been immobilized. Such control experiments were performed with the TRPV1 (see Results and Discussion) and CB1 receptor (paper I) antibodies, revealing significant off-target binding of the latter antibodies. In some cases, immunohistochemistry may be combined with other techniques to support the presence of a particular protein. This was the case in paper III, in which TRPV1 gene transcripts were identified to support the existence of this ion channel in epidermis of human skin. In conclusion, immunohistochemistry is a powerful technique for localization of gene products in biological tissues, but it is important to recognize the pitfalls of the technique, some of which may be eliminated by adequate control experiments.

#### Cannabinoid CB1 receptors and primary afferents

In addition to directly affecting sensory neurotransmisson in the CNS, cannabinoids are believed to produce analgesia via an action in the periphery<sup>141</sup>. One such mechanism is activation of inhibitory CB1 receptors on TRPV1-containing nerve fibres<sup>61</sup>. This mechanism has received considerable attention, because it offers the possibility of designing novel cannabinoid analgesics devoid of psychotropic side effects. This thesis challenges this view. Using five different antibodies raised against the CB1 receptor, we could not find any immunohistochemical evidence of neuronal CB1 receptors in the rat and mouse hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery. The staining of nerve fibres and other cellular elements in wild-type animals was indistinguishable from that seen in CB1 receptor-deficient mice, clearly indicating off-target binding of the antibodies.

However, we cannot exclude the possibility that primary afferents projecting to other tissues are co-expressing CB1 receptors and TRPV1, or that neuronal CB1 receptors are expressed exclusively during disease. In fact, it has been claimed in a recent study that neuronal CB1 receptors are up-regulated during skin inflammation in rat<sup>142</sup>. However, they used the same N-

terminal CB1 receptor antibody as we did, the staining of which did not disappear in the hindpaw skin of CB1 receptor-deficient mice.

Our functional studies also do not support the view that the analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects of cannabinoids are caused by a direct inhibition of peripheral terminals of capsaicinsensitive primary afferents. While we used HU210 in the different bioassays, most *in vivo* studies examining the possibility that cannabinoids activate peripheral CB1 receptors have used WIN55212, a compound that at high concentrations also interact with TRPV1 via CB1 receptor-independent mechanisms,<sup>143-145</sup>. Thus, our findings highlight the need for new CB1 receptor antibodies, the specificities of which should be confirmed in CB1 receptor-deficient animals, and calls for a re-evaluation of previous studies of CB1 receptor expression and cannabinoid activity in the periphery.

#### Role of TRPA1 in the somatosensory nervous system

The recent identification of TRPA1 as a detector of noxious stimulus such as cold<sup>34</sup> and chemical irritants<sup>35,114</sup> in primary sensory neurons has gained much interest. Whereas subsequent TRPA1 knock-out studies clearly confirm the role of TRPA1 as a chemical sensor, its role as a cold-receptor and mechanosensor is less obvious<sup>135,146</sup>. With regard to mechanosensation, knock-out studies failed to show a crucial role for TRPA1 in hearing, which does not exclude the possibility that this channel is indeed a mechanosensor in hair cells but may rather indicate that it is not the sole protein responsible for auditory signaling. Interestingly, a recent study shows that the peptide toxin GsMTX-4 from the spider *Grammostola spatulata*, which is used as a specific tool to study mechanosensitive ion channels, also interacts with TRPA1 possibly providing a link between TRPA1 and mechanosensation<sup>147</sup>.

Our interest in TRPA1 has been mainly on its role in chemosensation and originates from early studies in our laboratory suggesting the existence of a novel ionotropic cannabinoid receptor belonging to the TRP ion channel family in the somatosensory nervous system<sup>134</sup>. These findings led to the identification of TRPA1 as the molecular target activated by the plant-derived cannabinoids  $\Delta^9$ -THC and cannabinol<sup>35</sup>. Furthermore, it was shown that mustard oil, which is a commonly used tool to trigger pain and inflammation in animal studies, also activates TRPA1.

The different chemical properties of mustard oil and cannabinoids suggested that TRPA1 can be activated by different mechanisms. The present study extends these findings and show that other reactive molecules, such as the garlic-derived compounds allicin and DADS, also activate TRPA1. These findings may indicate a general role of TRPA1 in the detection of chemically reactive and potentially harmful compounds in both the external and internal environment. Two recent studies have suggested a covalent N-terminal modification of TRPA1 rather than a classical ligand-receptor interaction as the mechanism by which reactive chemicals, such as mustard oil, DADS and cinnamaldehyde, activate the channel<sup>148,149</sup>. Knowledge of the chemical properties of molecules interacting with TRPA1 may help identify endogenous substances and design drugs interacting with this channel.

## CONCLUSIONS

**I.** We find no evidence of CB1 receptor immunoreactivity on nerve fibres in rat or mouse hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery. The CB1 receptor agonists anandamide and HU210 failed to inhibit TRPV1-mediated calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) release from primary sensory neurons in rat hindpaw skin and mesenteric artery. Therefore, this study do not support the general view that the analgesic and anti-inflammatory effect of CB1 receptor agonists is due to direct inhibition of TRPV1 on peripheral terminals of capsaicin-sensitive primary afferent nerves. An important methodological aspect of this study is the antibody specificity. Whereas TRPV1 immunoreactivity disappeared in TRPV1 knock-out mice, experiments using CB1 receptor knock-out mice clearly show the lack of reliable antibodies to study CB1 receptor expression in the periphery.

**II.** This study shows that garlic extracts and some of its sulphur derivatives activate TRPA1 channels on sensory neurons present in the pain pathway and vascular system. It identifies TRPA1 as a novel ion channel in the vascular system and provides novel pharmacological tools for investigating the role of this ion channel. Whether activation of TRPA1 in the vascular system explains the beneficial antihypertensive effect observed by garlic treatment remains to be shown. This study also expands our understanding of how TRPA1 is regulated on a molecular basis, which is of importance for development of novel drug therapies for pain, inflammation and vascular disease.

**III.** This study shows for the first time the presence of the TRP ion channels TRPV2 and TRPM8 in sensory nerves in the human skin. TRPV2 and TRPM8 as well as TRPV1 immunoreactive nerve fibres are present in unmyelinated nerve fibres in epidermis and papillary dermis, in nerve bundles, and around blood vessels and hair follicles. In contrast to TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 are found mainly in the papillary dermis and seem to be restricted to peptidergic nerve fibres, of which the majority contain CGRP. There is a substantial loss of nerve fibres containing TRPV1, TRPV2 and TRPM8 in skin from individuals with Norrbottnian congenital insensitivity to pain. Insight into the role of TRPV2 and TRPM8 may open new avenues for treatment of inflammatory skin diseases.

## SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING (SWEDISH SUMMARY)

Vad hade vi varit utan våra sinnen? Föreställ dig en värld utan att kunna se, höra, lukta, smaka och känna. Det är med hjälp av våra sinnen som kroppen kan känna vad som händer i vår omgivning. Ett av våra sinnen är smärtsinnet, som har till uppgift att varna oss för inre och yttre faror. Trots att smärta är den i särklass vanligaste orsaken till mänskligt lidande, så är kunskapen om de molekylära mekanismerna bakom dess uppkomst mycket bristfällig. Den vanligaste formen av smärta är nociceptiv och uppstår när olika typer av proteiner (jonkanaler) på smärtnerver (nociceptorer) ute i vävnaderna utsätts för kemisk, termisk eller mekanisk stimulering. En viktig sådan jonkanal är TRPV1 som förutom att aktiveras av pepparämnet kapsaicin också aktiveras av värme och sur miljö, tillstånd som bland annat kan ses vid inflammation. Andra potentiella angreppspunkter för läkemedelsbehandling är TRPA1 (senapsreceptorn), TRPM8 (mentolreceptorn) och TRPV2 (värmekänslig), som tillsammans med TRPV1 tillhör familjen TRP-kanaler. Dessa kanaler finns på primära sensoriska nerver (Aδ- och C-fibrer), som förutom att förmedla en signal till hjärnan om hotande vävnadsskada också deltar i regleringen av perifera organ, t.ex. genom att frisätta kärldilaterande substanser lokalt i vävnaden, och i olika reflexbågar av betydelse för funktionen i våra inre organ. Miktionsreflexen och hostreflexen är sådana viktiga reflexer.

Det har föreslagits att den smärtstillande och antiinflammatoriska effekten av  $\Delta^9$ tetrahydrocannabinol från växten *Cannabis sativa* och liknande substanser delvis kan förklaras av att dessa ämnen via sin receptor (CB1) hämmar smärtnerver och deras frisättning av sensoriska neuropeptider lokalt ute i vävnaden. Hittills har inga immunohistokemiska studier övertygande visat att CB1 receptorn finns på primärsensoriska nerver, som också uttrycker TRPV1. I det första arbetet har vi därför använt immunohistokemi och funktionella metoder för att studera en tänkbar interaktion mellan dessa två receptorsystem i perifera sensoriska nerver. En viktig slutsats är att de antikroppar som har använts för att studera CB1 receptorn inte är tillförlitliga för att studera denna receptor i periferin. Arbetet visar också vikten av att konfirmera specifik antikroppsinbindning genom användandet av möss som saknar CB1 receptorn. De immunohistokemiska och funktionella resultaten ifrågasätter den allmänna uppfattningen att CB1 receptoragonister utövar sin perifera smärtstillande effekt genom att hämma TRPV1 i de primärsensoriska nerverna. I arbete två har vi visat att TRPA1 är den jonkanal som aktiveras av irriterande svavelhaltiga substanser från vitlök på de primärsensoriska nerverna. Dessa substanser utgör tillsammans med tidigare beskrivna TRPA1 agonister (isotiocyanater och kanelaldehyd) viktiga farmakologiska redskap för att förstå hur TRPA1 på molekylär nivå aktiveras av kemiskt irriterande substanser. Med immunohistokemisk analys av primärsensoriska nervcellskroppar i dorsalrotsgangliet finner vi att TRPA1 uttrycks i ungefär 22 % av alla nervceller. Vi visar också för första gången att TRPA1 finns uttryckt i kärlsystemet och att dess aktivering leder till frisättning av CGRP från primärsensoriska nerver i kärlväggen, vilket i sin tur leder till kärldilatation. Både immunohistokemi och funktionella studier på blodkärl tyder på att TRPA1 endast finns på en subpopulation av TRPV1-innehållande primärsensoriska nerver. Om denna grupp av nerver är inblandade i inflammatorisk smärta så kan TRPA1 vara en intressant angreppspunkt för nya smärtstillande läkemedel.

Huden är kroppens största sensoriska organ. I huden finns rikligt med primärsensoriska nerver, som kan registrera beröring och den omgivande temperaturen. Huden skyddar oss mot yttre våld och fungerar också som en barriär för skadliga främmande ämnen. I det tredje arbetet har vi studerat TRP-kanaler i hud från människa. Vi visar för första gången att TRPM8 och TRPV2 finns lokaliserat till primärsensoriska nerver runt blodkärl och hårfolliklar samt i det yttersta hudlagret (överhuden). I detta arbete undersöker vi också hudprover från individer med en medfödd okänslighet för smärta på grund av en mutation i en viktig tillväxtfaktor för nerver. Nerver som uttrycker TRPM8, TRPV2 och TRPV1 saknas i huden hos dessa individer. Arbetet väcker intressanta frågor angående vilken roll som de mindre väl karakteriserade TRP-kanalerna TRPV2 och TRPM8 spelar vid inflammatoriska tillstånd i huden.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

### I would like to express my sincere gratitude to:

Peter Zygmunt, my supervisor, for sharing your scientific knowledge and for always taking the time to discuss the possibilities or problems that came up and especially for believing in me. You have inspired me in many ways and I have learned that patience and accuracy are important ingredients in science. Your never ending enthusiasm for research has made things easier during difficult times of the projects.

Edward Högestätt, my co-supervisor, for sharing your medical and scientific knowledge and for believing in me. Thank you for your support and encouragement to perform scientifically correct research.

Karl-Erik Andersson, the founder of Klinfarm, for your commitment and for keeping up a good spirit. It has been a privilege to be a part of Klinfarm.

Magnus Korsgren, Peter Ekström, Diana Bautista, Pouya Movahed, Andrew Hinman, Olov Sterner, David Julius, Sven-Eric Jordt, Jan Minde, Andreas Sonesson, Göran Toolanen, my co-authors, for fruitful collaborations.

Magnus Korsgren, my co-author, for sharing your knowledge about histology and microscopy, among other things and for your sense of order.

Peter Ekström, my co-author, for introducing me to the magical world of confocal microscopy.

Andreas Sonesson, my co-author, for excellent collaboration and for supplying me with biopsies.

Rickard Linderlöf and coworkers at LRI Instruments in Lund, for all the support and help to get our brand-new Nikon confocal microscope up and running.

Magnus Abrahamson and Hanna Wallin, for teaching me real time PCR and for lending out your apparatus. A special thank to Hanna, for always answering my questions with a smile.

Gunilla Sernelin, for your help with everything. It has been fun to have another "Blekingebo" to talk to that really understands why I love it so much. I will never forget my first call to Klinfarm when I enquired about an examination project at the department and it turned out that we were from the same little village, Bräkne-Hoby - sometimes the world is small. Gunilla, you are an amazing person and it has been a pleasure to listen to all your remarkable stories during lunches and coffee breaks.

Agneta Kristensen, Brita Sunden Andersson and Christina Falk Olsson, for your support and belief in me and most of all for listening. Thank you for all your help in the lab and with my experiments. You have made my time at "Klinfarm" memorable and worth it. If there were better words other than "thank you" those are the words I would use to express my gratitude to you all.

Gertrud Persson, for your support and good advice and for being my friend. It has been fun to share my bird interest with you and who knows, maybe we will meet again at Trandansen in the future. I miss you at Klinfarm!

Johanna Mercke Odeberg and Monika Malm Erjefält, for your support and forever lasting good spirit. You are both great sources of inspiration and fantastic people!

Pouya Movahed, my friend and co-author, for your support during the hard times.

Lisa Alenmyr, for personal discussions and for nice collaboration on projects not included in this thesis.

Anna Ermund, for valuable help and discussions regarding molecular biology and calcium imaging.

Viktoria Werkström, for lending me your room while I wrote this thesis.

All other, former and present PhD students and colleagues at Klinfarm for making my time here memorable.

Martina Holst, my friend, who I first met at a FLÄK-meeting. You have been a true friend and a great help in all ways during my time as a PhD student. I look forward to relaxing and having a good time in Helsingborg and maybe take a look at your photos from Barbados.

## Mitt hjärtliga tack till (My special gratitude to):

Mamma och Pappa, för att ni har gjort mig till den jag är. Tack för ert eviga stöd, för att ni alltid ställer upp på stort och smått, för att ni har trott på mig när jag själv så många gånger har tvivlat och för att ni har lyssnat på mig när jag har behövt ventilera. Tack för att jag fick bo hemma i Hoby under min studietid i Karlskrona och Kalmar och tack för allt ni har lärt mig genom åren. Jag hade aldrig klarat det här utan er, ni är de bästa föräldrar man kan ha!

Brorsan, som syster är jag väldigt stolt över att ha dig till bror. Trots att vi har väldigt skilda intressen så är vi lika, inte bara till utseende, utan även personlighetsmässigt. Du är en inspirationskälla för att klara av saker och ting på egen hand, självlärd som du är i allt du tar dig för. Tack för att du alltid ställer upp och hjälper mig med "Kalle", trots att det inte är en SAAB.

Mormor och Morfar, för er omtanke och för att ni alltid finns där. Ett speciellt tack för att jag fick bo hos er under en del av min studietid så att jag kunde få lugn och ro att läsa. Sist, men inte minst, tack för alla de gånger som Herman och jag fick vara hos er i Risatorp. Jag kommer ihåg hur vi byggde den där snökojan utanför tomten och drack varm choklad som belöning efter hårt arbete, alla pingisturneringar vi hade i källaren som både orsakade glädje och frustration (vid förlust!) och nog fick ni bära upp den stora griffeltavlan från källaren många gånger för att vi skulle få rita av oss och efter allt detta erbjöd Tom och Jerry en lugn stund framför TV:n!

Farmor och Farfar, för er omtanke och för att ni alltid finns där. Tack för alla roliga somrar på Aspan då Herman och jag fick vara hos er. Jag minns när vi metade abborre från någon av bryggorna vid "Badberget", när vi plockade björnbär tills vi var alldeles lila om fingrarna och hade spannarna fulla och hur Herman och jag läste serietidningar i husvagnen till sent på kvällarna, det var härliga somrar det!

Rickard, för ditt stöd under en hektisk tid då jag inte alltid har varit på bästa humör och för att du har trott på mig. Tänk att du och jag redan har hunnit med en fantastisk resa till Australien och Nya Zeeland och snart bär det av igen! Nu är vår dröm om ett eget Arholma inte så långt borta.

Anna, min vän, som jag har delat så mycket med under åren. Jag tänker ofta tillbaka på vår sommar och minns alla äventyr vi var med om då, som man kan skratta eller gråta åt så här i efterhand. För mig är detta en vänskap som kommer att hålla livet ut. Tack för att du har låtit mig lära känna din underbara son Pontus, som jag har blivit så fäst vid. Tack Håkan, för alla gånger du ställde upp och skjutsade mig i din blåa Volvo och för att du tålmodigt försökte lära mig den svåra konsten att orientera.

Annica Björnbäck, för att du har inspirerat mig till träning, jag boxas gärna igen! Tack för ditt lunchsällskap och många roliga pratstunder.

#### Fundings

This work was supported by grants from the Research School in Pharmaceutical Sciences (FLÄK), the Swedish Research Council, the Swedish Strategic Foundation, and the Medical Faculty (ALF) at Lund University.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Kandel, S., Jessel. Principles of neural science (McGraw-Hill Companies, 2000).
- 2. L. Carlos Junqueira, J. C., Robert O. Kelley. *Basic Histology* (Prentice-Hall International, 1995).
- 3. Purves D, A. G. J., Fitzpatrick D et al. *Neuroscience* (Sunderland: Sinauer associates, 2001).
- 4. Sherrrington, C. S. in Archibald Constable (1908).
- Kress, M. & Zeilhofer, H. U. Capsaicin, protons and heat: new excitement about nociceptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 20, 112-8 (1999).
- 6. Greenspan, J. D. Nociceptors and the peripheral nervous system's role in pain. *J Hand Ther* **10**, 78-85 (1997).
- McMahon, S. B. & Koltzenburg, M. Novel classes of nociceptors: beyond Sherrington. *Trends Neurosci* 13, 199-201 (1990).
- 8. Wall, M. Textbook of pain (Churchill Livingstone, 1999).
- 9. Dickenson, A. H., Chapman, V. & Green, G. M. The pharmacology of excitatory and inhibitory amino acid-mediated events in the transmission and modulation of pain in the spinal cord. *Gen Pharmacol* **28**, 633-8 (1997).
- De Biasi, S. & Rustioni, A. Glutamate and substance P coexist in primary afferent terminals in the superficial laminae of spinal cord. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85, 7820-4 (1988).
- 11. Basbaum, A. I. & Fields, H. L. The origin of descending pathways in the dorsolateral funiculus of the spinal cord of the cat and rat: further studies on the anatomy of pain modulation. *J Comp Neurol* **187**, 513-31 (1979).
- 12. Levine, J. D., Fields, H. L. & Basbaum, A. I. Peptides and the primary afferent nociceptor. *J Neurosci* 13, 2273-86 (1993).
- 13. Holzer, P. Local effector functions of capsaicin-sensitive sensory nerve endings: involvement of tachykinins, calcitonin gene-related peptide and other neuropeptides. *Neuroscience* **24**, 739-68 (1988).
- 14. Rang H P, D. M. M. a. R. J. M. *Pharmacology* (Churchill Livingstone, Edingburgh, 2000).
- 15. Cesare, P. & McNaughton, P. Peripheral pain mechanisms. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 7, 493-9 (1997).
- 16. Caterina, M. J. & Julius, D. Sense and specificity: a molecular identity for nociceptors. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **9**, 525-30 (1999).
- 17. Caterina, M. J. & Julius, D. The vanilloid receptor: a molecular gateway to the pain pathway. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 24, 487-517 (2001).
- 18. Montell, C., Birnbaumer, L. & Flockerzi, V. The TRP channels, a remarkably functional family. *Cell* **108**, 595-8 (2002).
- 19. Clapham, D. E. TRP channels as cellular sensors. Nature 426, 517-24 (2003).
- Clapham, D. E., Julius, D., Montell, C. & Schultz, G. International Union of Pharmacology. XLIX. Nomenclature and structure-function relationships of transient receptor potential channels. *Pharmacol Rev* 57, 427-50 (2005).
- 21. Montell, C. The TRP superfamily of cation channels. Sci STKE 2005, re3 (2005).
- 22. Pedersen, S. F., Owsianik, G. & Nilius, B. TRP channels: an overview. *Cell Calcium* **38**, 233-52 (2005).
- 23. Cosens, D. J. & Manning, A. Abnormal electroretinogram from a Drosophila mutant. *Nature* **224**, 285-7 (1969).

- 24. Montell, C. & Rubin, G. M. Molecular characterization of the Drosophila trp locus: a putative integral membrane protein required for phototransduction. *Neuron* **2**, 1313-23 (1989).
- 25. Wes, P. D. et al. TRPC1, a human homolog of a Drosophila store-operated channel. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**, 9652-6 (1995).
- Caterina, M. J. et al. The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. *Nature* 389, 816-24 (1997).
- Caterina, M. J., Rosen, T. A., Tominaga, M., Brake, A. J. & Julius, D. A capsaicinreceptor homologue with a high threshold for noxious heat. *Nature* 398, 436-41 (1999).
- 28. Moqrich, A. et al. Impaired thermosensation in mice lacking TRPV3, a heat and camphor sensor in the skin. *Science* **307**, 1468-72 (2005).
- Todaka, H., Taniguchi, J., Satoh, J., Mizuno, A. & Suzuki, M. Warm temperaturesensitive transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) plays an essential role in thermal hyperalgesia. *J Biol Chem* 279, 35133-8 (2004).
- 30. Nijenhuis, T., Hoenderop, J. G. & Bindels, R. J. TRPV5 and TRPV6 in Ca(2+) (re)absorption: regulating Ca(2+) entry at the gate. *Pflugers Arch* **451**, 181-92 (2005).
- den Dekker, E., Hoenderop, J. G., Nilius, B. & Bindels, R. J. The epithelial calcium channels, TRPV5 & TRPV6: from identification towards regulation. *Cell Calcium* 33, 497-507 (2003).
- 32. Duncan, L. M. et al. Down-regulation of the novel gene melastatin correlates with potential for melanoma metastasis. *Cancer Res* **58**, 1515-20 (1998).
- 33. Zhang, L. & Barritt, G. J. TRPM8 in prostate cancer cells: a potential diagnostic and prognostic marker with a secretory function? *Endocr Relat Cancer* **13**, 27-38 (2006).
- 34. Story, G. M. et al. ANKTM1, a TRP-like channel expressed in nociceptive neurons, is activated by cold temperatures. *Cell* **112**, 819-29 (2003).
- 35. Jordt, S. E. et al. Mustard oils and cannabinoids excite sensory nerve fibres through the TRP channel ANKTM1. *Nature* **427**, 260-5 (2004).
- 36. Corey, D. P. et al. TRPA1 is a candidate for the mechanosensitive transduction channel of vertebrate hair cells. *Nature* **432**, 723-30 (2004).
- Delmas, P. et al. Polycystins, calcium signaling, and human diseases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 322, 1374-83 (2004).
- 38. Hanaoka, K. et al. Co-assembly of polycystin-1 and -2 produces unique cationpermeable currents. *Nature* **408**, 990-4 (2000).
- 39. Mochizuki, T. et al. PKD2, a gene for polycystic kidney disease that encodes an integral membrane protein. *Science* **272**, 1339-42 (1996).
- 40. Wu, G. et al. Identification of PKD2L, a human PKD2-related gene: tissue-specific expression and mapping to chromosome 10q25. *Genomics* **54**, 564-8 (1998).
- 41. Boulter, C. et al. Cardiovascular, skeletal, and renal defects in mice with a targeted disruption of the Pkd1 gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**, 12174-9 (2001).
- 42. Sun, M. et al. Mucolipidosis type IV is caused by mutations in a gene encoding a novel transient receptor potential channel. *Hum Mol Genet* **9**, 2471-8 (2000).
- 43. Di Palma, F. et al. Mutations in Mcoln3 associated with deafness and pigmentation defects in varitint-waddler (Va) mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**, 14994-9 (2002).
- 44. Moran, M. M., Xu, H. & Clapham, D. E. TRP ion channels in the nervous system. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 14, 362-9 (2004).
- 45. Szallasi, A. & Goso, C. Characterization by [3H]resiniferatoxin binding of a human vanilloid (capsaicin) receptor in post-mortem spinal cord. *Neurosci Lett* **165**, 101-4 (1994).

- Szallasi, A., Blumberg, P. M., Nilsson, S., Hokfelt, T. & Lundberg, J. M. Visualization by [3H]resiniferatoxin autoradiography of capsaicin-sensitive neurons in the rat, pig and man. *Eur J Pharmacol* 264, 217-21 (1994).
- Szallasi, A., Nilsson, S., Hokfelt, T. & Lundberg, J. M. Visualizing vanilloid (capsaicin) receptors in pig spinal cord by [3H]resiniferatoxin autoradiography. *Brain Res* 655, 237-40 (1994).
- Guo, A., Vulchanova, L., Wang, J., Li, X. & Elde, R. Immunocytochemical localization of the vanilloid receptor 1 (VR1): relationship to neuropeptides, the P2X3 purinoceptor and IB4 binding sites. *Eur J Neurosci* 11, 946-58 (1999).
- 49. Tominaga, M. et al. The cloned capsaicin receptor integrates multiple pain-producing stimuli. *Neuron* **21**, 531-43 (1998).
- 50. Szallasi, A. & Blumberg, P. M. Vanilloid (Capsaicin) receptors and mechanisms. *Pharmacol Rev* **51**, 159-212 (1999).
- 51. Mezey, E. et al. Distribution of mRNA for vanilloid receptor subtype 1 (VR1), and VR1-like immunoreactivity, in the central nervous system of the rat and human. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**, 3655-60 (2000).
- 52. Szallasi, A. & Di Marzo, V. New perspectives on enigmatic vanilloid receptors. *Trends Neurosci* 23, 491-7 (2000).
- Iwai, K., Suzuki, T. & Kobashi, M. Quantitative microanalysis of capsaicin, dihydrocapsaicin and nordihyrocapsaicin using mass fragmentography. *J Chromatogr* 123, 119-28 (1976).
- 54. Thresh, L. T. Isolation of capsaicin. *Pharm J* 6, 941-949 (1846).
- 55. Nelson, E. K. The constitution of capsaicin-the pungent principle of capsicum. *J Am Chem Soc* **41**, 1115-1119 (1919).
- Hergenhahn, M., Adolf, W., Hecker, E. Resiniferatoxin and other esters of novel polyfunctional diterpenes from Euphorbia resinifera and unispina. *Tetrahedron Lett* 19 (1975).
- 57. Szallasi, A. & Blumberg, P. M. Vanilloid receptors: new insights enhance potential as a therapeutic target. *Pain* **68**, 195-208 (1996).
- Davis, J. B. et al. Vanilloid receptor-1 is essential for inflammatory thermal hyperalgesia. *Nature* 405, 183-7 (2000).
- 59. Caterina, M. J. et al. Impaired nociception and pain sensation in mice lacking the capsaicin receptor. *Science* **288**, 306-13 (2000).
- 60. Ellington, H. C., Cotter, M. A., Cameron, N. E. & Ross, R. A. The effect of cannabinoids on capsaicin-evoked calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) release from the isolated paw skin of diabetic and non-diabetic rats. *Neuropharmacology* **42**, 966-75 (2002).
- Richardson, J. D., Kilo, S. & Hargreaves, K. M. Cannabinoids reduce hyperalgesia and inflammation via interaction with peripheral CB1 receptors. *Pain* 75, 111-9 (1998).
- Richardson, J. D., Aanonsen, L. & Hargreaves, K. M. Antihyperalgesic effects of spinal cannabinoids. *Eur J Pharmacol* 345, 145-53 (1998).
- 63. Cravatt, B. F. & Lichtman, A. H. The endogenous cannabinoid system and its role in nociceptive behavior. *J Neurobiol* **61**, 149-60 (2004).
- Di Marzo, V. & Deutsch, D. G. Biochemistry of the endogenous ligands of cannabinoid receptors. *Neurobiol Dis* 5, 386-404 (1998).
- 65. Pertwee, R. G. Cannabinoid receptors and pain. Prog Neurobiol 63, 569-611 (2001).
- Di Marzo, V., De Petrocellis, L. & Bisogno, T. Endocannabinoids Part I: molecular basis of endocannabinoid formation, action and inactivation and development of selective inhibitors. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 5, 241-65 (2001).

- 67. Devane, W. A. et al. Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. *Science* **258**, 1946-9 (1992).
- 68. Zygmunt, P. M. et al. Vanilloid receptors on sensory nerves mediate the vasodilator action of anandamide. *Nature* **400**, 452-7 (1999).
- 69. Szolcsanyi, J. Anandamide and the question of its functional role for activation of capsaicin receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **21**, 203-4 (2000).
- 70. Smart, D. & Jerman, J. C. Anandamide: an endogenous activator of the vanilloid receptor. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **21**, 134 (2000).
- Helliwell, R. J. et al. Capsaicin sensitivity is associated with the expression of the vanilloid (capsaicin) receptor (VR1) mRNA in adult rat sensory ganglia. *Neurosci Lett* 250, 177-80 (1998).
- Hohmann, A. G. & Herkenham, M. Cannabinoid receptors undergo axonal flow in sensory nerves. *Neuroscience* 92, 1171-5 (1999).
- Ahluwalia, J., Urban, L., Capogna, M., Bevan, S. & Nagy, I. Cannabinoid 1 receptors are expressed in nociceptive primary sensory neurons. *Neuroscience* 100, 685-8 (2000).
- Ichikawa, H. & Sugimoto, T. Vanilloid receptor 1-like receptor-immunoreactive primary sensory neurons in the rat trigeminal nervous system. *Neuroscience* 101, 719-25 (2000).
- 75. Ichikawa, H. & Sugimoto, T. Co-expression of VRL-1 and calbindin D-28k in the rat sensory ganglia. *Brain Res* **924**, 109-12 (2002).
- 76. Ichikawa, H. & Sugimoto, T. The co-expression of VR1 and VRL-1 in the rat vagal sensory ganglia. *Brain Res* **980**, 293-6 (2003).
- 77. Stenholm, E., Bongenhielm, U., Ahlquist, M. & Fried, K. VRI- and VRL-l-like immunoreactivity in normal and injured trigeminal dental primary sensory neurons of the rat. *Acta Odontol Scand* **60**, 72-9 (2002).
- Greffrath, W., Binzen, U., Schwarz, S. T., Saaler-Reinhardt, S. & Treede, R. D. Coexpression of heat sensitive vanilloid receptor subtypes in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. *Neuroreport* 14, 2251-5 (2003).
- Zhang, L., Jones, S., Brody, K., Costa, M. & Brookes, S. J. Thermosensitive transient receptor potential channels in vagal afferent neurons of the mouse. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 286, G983-91 (2004).
- 80. Fukuda, T. et al. ASIC3-immunoreactive neurons in the rat vagal and glossopharyngeal sensory ganglia. *Brain Res* **1081**, 150-5 (2006).
- 81. Tsukagoshi, M., Goris, R. C. & Funakoshi, K. Differential distribution of vanilloid receptors in the primary sensory neurons projecting to the dorsal skin and muscles. *Histochem Cell Biol* **126**, 343-52 (2006).
- Yazulla, S. & Studholme, K. M. Vanilloid receptor like 1 (VRL1) immunoreactivity in mammalian retina: colocalization with somatostatin and purinergic P2X1 receptors. J Comp Neurol 474, 407-18 (2004).
- Lewinter, R. D., Skinner, K., Julius, D. & Basbaum, A. I. Immunoreactive TRPV-2 (VRL-1), a capsaicin receptor homolog, in the spinal cord of the rat. *J Comp Neurol* 470, 400-8 (2004).
- 84. Ichikawa, H. & Sugimoto, T. The co-expression of P2X3 receptor with VR1 and VRL-1 in the rat trigeminal ganglion. *Brain Res* **998**, 130-5 (2004).
- 85. Ichikawa, H. et al. VR1-, VRL-1- and P2X3 receptor-immunoreactive innervation of the rat temporomandibular joint. *Brain Res* **1008**, 131-6 (2004).
- Ma, Q. P. Vanilloid receptor homologue, VRL1, is expressed by both A- and C-fiber sensory neurons. *Neuroreport* 12, 3693-5 (2001).

- Ichikawa, H. & Sugimoto, T. VRL-1 immunoreactivity in the rat cranial autonomic ganglia. *Neuroreport* 12, 1597-9 (2001).
- 88. Kashiba, H. et al. TRPV2-immunoreactive intrinsic neurons in the rat intestine. *Neurosci Lett* **366**, 193-6 (2004).
- 89. Wainwright, A., Rutter, A. R., Seabrook, G. R., Reilly, K. & Oliver, K. R. Discrete expression of TRPV2 within the hypothalamo-neurohypophysial system: Implications for regulatory activity within the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *J Comp Neurol* **474**, 24-42 (2004).
- 90. Yamamoto, Y. & Taniguchi, K. Immunolocalization of VR1 and VRL1 in rat larynx. *Auton Neurosci* **117**, 62-5 (2005).
- 91. Kunert-Keil, C., Bisping, F., Kruger, J. & Brinkmeier, H. Tissue-specific expression of TRP channel genes in the mouse and its variation in three different mouse strains. *BMC Genomics* **7**, 159 (2006).
- 92. Okano, H. et al. Participation of TRPV1 and TRPV2 in the rat laryngeal sensory innervation. *Neurosci Lett* **400**, 35-8 (2006).
- 93. Muraki, K. et al. TRPV2 is a component of osmotically sensitive cation channels in murine aortic myocytes. *Circ Res* **93**, 829-38 (2003).
- 94. Gaudet, A. D., Williams, S. J., Hwi, L. P. & Ramer, M. S. Regulation of TRPV2 by axotomy in sympathetic, but not sensory neurons. *Brain Res* **1017**, 155-62 (2004).
- 95. Shimosato, G. et al. Peripheral inflammation induces up-regulation of TRPV2 expression in rat DRG. *Pain* **119**, 225-32 (2005).
- 96. Tsavaler, L., Shapero, M. H., Morkowski, S. & Laus, R. Trp-p8, a novel prostatespecific gene, is up-regulated in prostate cancer and other malignancies and shares high homology with transient receptor potential calcium channel proteins. *Cancer Res* **61**, 3760-9 (2001).
- 97. Peier, A. M. et al. A TRP channel that senses cold stimuli and menthol. *Cell* **108**, 705-15 (2002).
- 98. McKemy, D. D., Neuhausser, W. M. & Julius, D. Identification of a cold receptor reveals a general role for TRP channels in thermosensation. *Nature* **416**, 52-8 (2002).
- Tsukimi, Y., Mizuyachi, K., Yamasaki, T., Niki, T. & Hayashi, F. Cold response of the bladder in guinea pig: involvement of transient receptor potential channel, TRPM8. Urology 65, 406-10 (2005).
- 100. Abe, J. et al. TRPM8 protein localization in trigeminal ganglion and taste papillae. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **136**, 91-8 (2005).
- 101. Kobayashi, K. et al. Distinct expression of TRPM8, TRPA1, and TRPV1 mRNAs in rat primary afferent neurons with adelta/c-fibers and colocalization with trk receptors. *J Comp Neurol* **493**, 596-606 (2005).
- Reid, G., Babes, A. & Pluteanu, F. A cold- and menthol-activated current in rat dorsal root ganglion neurones: properties and role in cold transduction. *J Physiol* 545, 595-614 (2002).
- Babes, A., Zorzon, D. & Reid, G. Two populations of cold-sensitive neurons in rat dorsal root ganglia and their modulation by nerve growth factor. *Eur J Neurosci* 20, 2276-82 (2004).
- 104. Okazawa, M. et al. Noxious heat receptors present in cold-sensory cells in rats. *Neurosci Lett* **359**, 33-6 (2004).
- 105. Mukerji, G. et al. Cool and menthol receptor TRPM8 in human urinary bladder disorders and clinical correlations. *BMC Urol* **6**, 6 (2006).
- 106. Behrendt, H. J., Germann, T., Gillen, C., Hatt, H. & Jostock, R. Characterization of the mouse cold-menthol receptor TRPM8 and vanilloid receptor type-1 VR1 using a fluorometric imaging plate reader (FLIPR) assay. Br J Pharmacol 141, 737-45 (2004).

- Nealen, M. L., Gold, M. S., Thut, P. D. & Caterina, M. J. TRPM8 mRNA is expressed in a subset of cold-responsive trigeminal neurons from rat. *J Neurophysiol* 90, 515-20 (2003).
- Thut, P. D., Wrigley, D. & Gold, M. S. Cold transduction in rat trigeminal ganglia neurons in vitro. *Neuroscience* 119, 1071-83 (2003).
- 109. Babes, A., Zorzon, D. & Reid, G. A novel type of cold-sensitive neuron in rat dorsal root ganglia with rapid adaptation to cooling stimuli. *Eur J Neurosci* **24**, 691-8 (2006).
- Xing, H., Ling, J., Chen, M. & Gu, J. G. Chemical and cold sensitivity of two distinct populations of TRPM8-expressing somatosensory neurons. *J Neurophysiol* 95, 1221-30 (2006).
- Park, C. K. et al. Functional expression of thermo-transient receptor potential channels in dental primary afferent neurons: implication for tooth pain. *J Biol Chem* 281, 17304-11 (2006).
- 112. Proudfoot, C. J. et al. Analgesia mediated by the TRPM8 cold receptor in chronic neuropathic pain. *Curr Biol* **16**, 1591-605 (2006).
- 113. Jaquemar, D., Schenker, T. & Trueb, B. An ankyrin-like protein with transmembrane domains is specifically lost after oncogenic transformation of human fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem* **274**, 7325-33 (1999).
- 114. Bandell, M. et al. Noxious cold ion channel TRPA1 is activated by pungent compounds and bradykinin. *Neuron* **41**, 849-57 (2004).
- 115. Couture, R., Harrisson, M., Vianna, R. M. & Cloutier, F. Kinin receptors in pain and inflammation. *Eur J Pharmacol* **429**, 161-76 (2001).
- Nagata, K., Duggan, A., Kumar, G. & Garcia-Anoveros, J. Nociceptor and hair cell transducer properties of TRPA1, a channel for pain and hearing. *J Neurosci* 25, 4052-61 (2005).
- 117. Ledent, C. et al. Unresponsiveness to cannabinoids and reduced addictive effects of opiates in CB1 receptor knockout mice. *Science* **283**, 401-4 (1999).
- Hogestatt, E. D., Johansson, O., Andersson, K. E. & Kullendorff, C. M. Influence of renal denervation on vascular responsiveness of isolated rat intrarenal arteries. *Acta Physiol Scand* 132, 59-66 (1988).
- 119. Bautista, D. M. et al. Pungent products from garlic activate the sensory ion channel TRPA1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 12248-52 (2005).
- Di Marzo, V., Blumberg, P. M. & Szallasi, A. Endovanilloid signaling in pain. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 12, 372-9 (2002).
- 121. Mackie, K. Distribution of cannabinoid receptors in the central and peripheral nervous system. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*, 299-325 (2005).
- 122. Lauria, G. et al. Expression of capsaicin receptor immunoreactivity in human peripheral nervous system and in painful neuropathies. *J Peripher Nerv Syst* **11**, 262-71 (2006).
- Ward, S. M., Bayguinov, J., Won, K. J., Grundy, D. & Berthoud, H. R. Distribution of the vanilloid receptor (VR1) in the gastrointestinal tract. *J Comp Neurol* 465, 121-35 (2003).
- Brace, L. D. Cardiovascular benefits of garlic (Allium sativum L). *J Cardiovasc Nurs* 16, 33-49 (2002).
- 125. Burgess, J. F. Can. Med. Assoc. J 66, 275 (1952).
- 126. Parish, R. A., McIntire, S. & Heimbach, D. M. Garlic burns: a naturopathic remedy gone awry. *Pediatr Emerg Care* **3**, 258-60 (1987).
- Joseph, P. K., Rao, K. R. & Sundaresh, C. S. Toxic effects of garlic extract and garlic oil in rats. *Indian J Exp Biol* 27, 977-9 (1989).
- 128. Stoll, A. a. S., E. *Experientia* **3** (1947).

- Jones, M. G. et al. Biosynthesis of the flavour precursors of onion and garlic. J Exp Bot 55, 1903-18 (2004).
- Fahey, J. W., Zalcmann, A. T. & Talalay, P. The chemical diversity and distribution of glucosinolates and isothiocyanates among plants. *Phytochemistry* 56, 5-51 (2001).
- 131. Wang, H. & Woolf, C. J. Pain TRPs. Neuron 46, 9-12 (2005).
- 132. Gamse, R., Holzer, P. & Lembeck, F. Decrease of substance P in primary afferent neurones and impairment of neurogenic plasma extravasation by capsaicin. *Br J Pharmacol* 68, 207-13 (1980).
- 133. Julius, D. & Basbaum, A. I. Molecular mechanisms of nociception. *Nature* **413**, 203-10 (2001).
- 134. Zygmunt, P. M., Andersson, D. A. & Hogestatt, E. D. Delta 9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabinol activate capsaicin-sensitive sensory nerves via a CB1 and CB2 cannabinoid receptor-independent mechanism. *J Neurosci* 22, 4720-7 (2002).
- 135. Bautista, D. M. et al. TRPA1 mediates the inflammatory actions of environmental irritants and proalgesic agents. *Cell* **124**, 1269-82 (2006).
- 136. Movahed, P. et al. Vascular effects of anandamide and N-acylvanillylamines in the human forearm and skin microcirculation. *Br J Pharmacol* **146**, 171-9 (2005).
- 137. Roosterman, D., Goerge, T., Schneider, S. W., Bunnett, N. W. & Steinhoff, M. Neuronal control of skin function: the skin as a neuroimmunoendocrine organ. *Physiol Rev* 86, 1309-79 (2006).
- Namer, B., Seifert, F., Handwerker, H. O. & Maihofner, C. TRPA1 and TRPM8 activation in humans: effects of cinnamaldehyde and menthol. *Neuroreport* 16, 955-9 (2005).
- Wasner, G., Schattschneider, J., Binder, A. & Baron, R. Topical menthol--a human model for cold pain by activation and sensitization of C nociceptors. *Brain* 127, 1159-71 (2004).
- 140. Einarsdottir, E. et al. A mutation in the nerve growth factor beta gene (NGFB) causes loss of pain perception. *Hum Mol Genet* **13**, 799-805 (2004).
- 141. Malan, T. P., Jr. et al. CB2 cannabinoid receptor agonists: pain relief without psychoactive effects? *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **3**, 62-7 (2003).
- Amaya, F. et al. Induction of CB1 cannabinoid receptor by inflammation in primary afferent neurons facilitates antihyperalgesic effect of peripheral CB1 agonist. *Pain* 124, 175-83 (2006).
- 143. Patwardhan, A. M. et al. The cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 inhibits transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) and evokes peripheral antihyperalgesia via calcineurin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 11393-8 (2006).
- 144. Jeske, N. A. et al. Cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 regulates TRPV1 phosphorylation in sensory neurons. *J Biol Chem* **281**, 32879-90 (2006).
- 145. Johanek, L. M. & Simone, D. A. Activation of peripheral cannabinoid receptors attenuates cutaneous hyperalgesia produced by a heat injury. *Pain* **109**, 432-42 (2004).
- 146. Kwan, K. Y. et al. TRPA1 contributes to cold, mechanical, and chemical nociception but is not essential for hair-cell transduction. *Neuron* **50**, 277-89 (2006).
- 147. Hill, K. & Schaefer, M. TRPA1 is differentially modulated by the amphiphatic molecules trinitrophenol and chlorpromazine. *J Biol Chem* (2007).
- 148. Hinman, A., Chuang, H. H., Bautista, D. M. & Julius, D. TRP channel activation by reversible covalent modification. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 19564-8 (2006).
- 149. Macpherson, L. J. et al. Noxious compounds activate TRPA1 ion channels through covalent modification of cysteines. *Nature* (2007).